
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Wednesday, 3rd April, 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby                   Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

To receive declarations by Members and/ or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
other registrable interests which have not already been declared in the 
Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting). 

Members are advised however, in the interests of clarity and transparency, 
to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as any 
other interests. 

Members are reminded that they may not, by law, participate or vote in 
any discussion in a meeting on a matter in which they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest 

Members are advised that they should leave the room during consideration 
of any items of business in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest.

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 8 February 2019 1 - 4

4. Executive Forward Plan 5 - 12

5. Update from Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee 

Public Document Pack



6. Update from the Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG) representative 13 - 16

7. Public Space Protection Orders 17 - 134

8. Housing - verbal update 

9. Rural Strategy 135 - 142

10. Outside Bodies Annual Report 143 - 202

11. Cumbria Public Health Strategy 203 - 242

12. Response to Waste Consultation - Government Waste and Resources 
Strategy 

243 - 254

13. Cumbria LEP Scrutiny - verbal update 

14. Report from Overview and Scrutiny Performance Sub-Committee - verbal 
update 

15. Task and Finish Group Updates 255 - 258

16. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 259 - 262

Membership: Councillors Raymond Gill (Chair), Carla Arrighi, Jackie Bowman, 
Anne Bradshaw, Hugh Branney, Yvonne Clarkson, Neil Ferguson, Jeanette Forster, 
Keith Hitchen, Sam Meteer, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen and Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair)

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2019

Present: Councillors Raymond Gill, in the Chair; Neil Ferguson, Sam Pollen and Felicity Wilson.

Officers: Julie Betteridge (Executive Director, Operations), James Young (Scrutiny Officer) and 
Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer).
Julie Friend (Housing Strategy and Development Officer) – Items 1-8 only.

Also Present: Councillor Andy Pratt.

OSC 18/70 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jackie Bowman, Anne Bradshaw, Hugh 
Branney and Jeanette Forster.

OSC 18/71 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair expressed his disappointment at the lack of Members attending the meeting, and 
thanked those who had attended.

The Chair then noted that two items on the agenda were marked ‘To Follow’ and the papers 
issued late. It was then stated that on this occasion the late items would be accepted for 
discussion, but in future, if papers were not ready they should not be included on the agenda.

OSC 18/72 Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

Councillor Ray Gill declared a non-pecuniary interest in Agenda Item 8 (Housing Enforcement 
Policy) due to being a tenant of Home Group.

OSC 18/73 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2019 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2019 be signed by the Chair 
as a correct record.

OSC 18/74 Executive Forward Plan 

Committee considered the Executive Forward Plan.

RESOLVED - that the Executive Forward Plan be noted.

OSC 18/75 Update from Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee 

The Council’s representative, Councillor Anne Bradshaw, was not present at the meeting 
therefore no update was received.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



OSC 18/76 Update from the Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG) representative 

Committee received the minutes of the last Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG) meeting 
held on 13 November 2018 and a verbal update from the OSC representative, Councillor Sam 
Pollen.

During the discussion that followed, it was suggested that the STTUG minutes be included in 
future OSC agendas.

RESOLVED:- that
a) The update be received, and
b) Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG) minutes be included in future OSC agendas.

OSC 18/77 Community Asset Transfer Policy Revisions 

Committee considered the revised Community Asset Transfer Policy, which had been revised 
in accordance with audit recommendations.

Members expressed a view that this was an excellent document, which they fully supported.

During the discussion that followed, Councillor Sam Pollen suggested that the old Beck Green 
Nursery in Egremont should be considered and the Executive Director, Operations undertook 
to arrange a meeting for interested parties.

RESOLVED:- that
a) the revised Community Asset Transfer Policy be received, and
b) Executive be recommended to approve the revised policy.

OSC 18/78 Housing Enforcement Policy 

The Housing Strategy and Development Officer introduced the revised Housing Renewal 
Service’s Housing Enforcement Policy to Committee and invited comments.

Members stated their view that this was a thorough document.

During discussion, a number of concerns were raised, particularly regarding Home Group. 
Members were advised that if they had specific issues, they should be raised with the 
Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager.

It was asked if there was a list of Home Group properties in the Borough and the Executive 
Director, Operations undertook to check.

A number of issues regarding anti-social behaviour were raised and it was suggested that 
Members directed these to the Copeland Hub.

The Housing team were thanked for their hard work. 

RESOLVED:- that 
a) The revised Housing Renewal Service’s Housing Enforcement Policy be received, and
b) The revised policy be recommended to Executive for approval. 

Page 2



OSC 18/79 Children, Young People and Families Wellbeing Model Consultation 

Prior to discussion of this item, Members were reminded that a consultation meeting had 
been arranged for 15 February, to which all Councillors had been invited. It was suggested 
that this item be deferred until after that consultation event.

RESOLVED:- that this item be deferred until a future meeting.

OSC 18/80 Accessible Information Policy Task and Finish Group Report 

Councillor Andy Pratt, who chaired the Accessible Information Policy Task and Finish Group, 
introduced this item to committee.

Following a discussion, the Task and Finish Group were thanked for their work and for 
producing the draft policy.

RESOLVED:- that 
a) The draft Accessible Information Policy be recommended to Council for approval, and
b) The aspiration that the recommendations contained in the draft policy be adopted. 

OSC 18/81 Task and Finish Group Updates 

The Scrutiny Officer provided Committee with an update on the current Task and Finish 
Groups.

Voluntary Living Wage  (Chaired by Councillor Sam Pollen)
Further details were being obtained from The Beacon.
Corporate Leadership Team had accepted the recommendation that the Voluntary Living 
Wage be a requirement in the Council’s procurement process.
A meeting with the Head of Corporate Resources was to be arranged to discuss the next stage 
of gaining accreditation with the Voluntary Living Wage Foundation.

Child Poverty  (Chaired by Councillor Ian Hill)
The Group have met with Suzanne Wilson (University of Central Lancashire) to scope the 
project and also attended presentations with a group of girls and Howgill.
All primary schools in the Borough were written to, however, not all replied.

During the discussion that followed, Councillors Fee Wilson and Andy Pratt requested a list of 
the schools contacted and for a copy of the letter. 

Accessible Information Policy  (Chaired by Councillor Andy Pratt)
The Task and Finish Group had completed their work and the Draft Policy was an Agenda Item 
for this meeting.

Public Space Protection Orders (PSPO)   (Chaired by Councillor Graham Sunderland)
This Task and Finish Group was a joint venture with Allerdale Borough Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.
The scoping of the project is complete and the group has opted to create a Borough wide 
PSPO with smaller PSPOs relating to individual areas.

Page 3



Draft orders are to be created by the Solicitor and reviewed by the Task and Finish Group.
 
RESOLVED:- That the Task and Finish Group updates be received and noted.

OSC 18/82 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

Considered was given to the Committee’s Work Programme for 2018-19.

During discussion of this item, the following additional subjects were put forward as possible 
topics for inclusion in the OSC Work Programme:-

 Sports and Leisure across the Borough.
 Street Lighting
 Dog Fouling
 Recycling review

RESOLVED: That the OSC Work Programme 2018-19 be updated and agreed,

OSC 18/83 Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be on Thursday 
21 March 2019 at 2:00pm in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven.

The Meeting closed at 12.55 pm 

Chair

Page 4



 
 

EXEC  April 2019
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
Part A of this Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the ground that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor, Allan Holliday and Mark Holliday. 
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 
Part B of this Plan is additional items which are to be considered which are not considered to be key decisions. 
 
  

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



PART A

Matter in respect of 
which a key decision is to be 
made 

Who will make 
the key decision 

Date on which the decision 
will be made 

List of documents decision 
maker will consider and who is 
the relevant contact officer 

Likely to contain 
confidential or 
exempt information 
 

Housing Enforcement Policy Executive
Council

Executive 12 March 2019
Council 9 April 2019

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Community Asset Transfer 
Policy

Executive
Council

OSC 8 February 2019
Executive 12 March 2019
Council 9 April 2019

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Safeguarding Policy Council Council 9 April 2019 Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Calendar of Meetings 2019-20 Council Council 9 April 2019 Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No

Honorary Alderman Protocol Council Council 9 April 2019 Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No

Cumbria Coastal Activities 
Centre- Request to the Council 
to act as accountable body.

Council Council 9 April 2019 Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No 

Public Space Protection Orders Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No            

P
age 6



Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No            

Cumbria Public Health Strategy Executive Executive 16 April 2019 Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Social Inclusion Policy Update Executive
Council

Executive 16 April 2019
Council  June 2019

Julie Betteridge   – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Accountable Body Request Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Contract Standing Orders Executive Executive 16 April 2019 Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

Beacon update Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Response to Waste Consultation 
– Government Waste and 
Resources Strategy

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

2018/19 Finance Report 
– Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019
            

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes

P
age 7



Private Landlords Rent Deposit 
Guarantee Scheme

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

The Copeland Centre, Lease of 
Part

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019
            

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes

2018/19 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2019 
            

Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

Health and Safety Report Executive  Executive May 2019 
            

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No

2018/19 Finance Report
– Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive August 2019 
            

Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

2019/20 Finance Report
– Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive August 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

Xmas Parking Arrangements Executive Executive October 2019 Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive November 2019 
            

Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

P
age 8



2019/20 Finance Report
– Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive November 2019 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

Amendments to Discretionary 
Relief Policy

Executive  Executive January 2020 Julie Betteridge   – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Discount and Premium Policy Council Executive January 2020
Council February 2020

Julie Betteridge   – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Budget Consultation Outcome Executive Executive January 2020 Steven Brown – S151 Officer No

Whitehaven Sports Centre 
Development 

Council Council June 2019 Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No

Pay Policy Statement Council Council February 2020 Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No

Draft Budget Council Executive January 2020
Council February 2020

Steven Brown – S151 Officer No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive February 2020 
            

Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

P
age 9



2019/20 Finance Report
– Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive February 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2020 
            

Sarah Pemberton –
Head of Governance & 
Commercial (M.O.)

No

2019/20 Finance Report
– Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2020 
            

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

 

PART B 
 

Report Who will make 
the decision 

Date on which the decision 
will be made 

List of documents decision maker 
will consider and who is the 
relevant contact officer 

Likely to contain 
confidential or 
exempt information  

Outside Bodies Annual Report Council Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee May 2019 
Council June 2019 

Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations
 

No 

Annual Scrutiny Report Council Council June 2019 Julie Betteridge – 
Executive Director Operations

No 

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly Report  

Executive  Executive July 2019 Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No 

P
age 10



Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly Report  

Executive  Executive February 2020 Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No 

Pay Policy Statement Council Council February 2020 Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No 

 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

STTUG   
Wednesday 13th February 2019 

 
2.00 p.m. 

 
Carlisle Room, The Copeland Centre 

 

Present:   

 
 

 
Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate Resources 
Helen Tonkin – Unison CBC Rep 
Brent Parker – Unite Copeland Branch Secretary 
Councillor David Moore – HR Portfolio Holder 
Councillor Sam Pollen – Overview and Scrutiny Representative 
Claire Dunn – HR Team Leader 

Julie Phillipson – HR - Note taker 

 

Apologies: 

  
Pat Graham – Chief Executive 
Julie Betteridge – Executive Director, Operations 
Ryan Armstrong – Unite Regional Officer 
David Atkinson – Unison Regional Officer 
Dan Gow – GMB Regional Organiser 

 
Agenda 
Item No 

 
What Action 

1 Welcome 
 
Jo welcomed the group. 
 

 

2 Apologies 
 
Apologies from Pat Graham, Julie Betteridge, Dan Gow, David Atkinson and Ryan 
Armstrong. 

 
 
 
 
 

3 Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising 

 Safety Committee – the volunteer Safety Rep from Unison has withdrawn  

Minutes from last meeting agreed. 

The Mayor provided a budget update for the group: 

 The budget meeting was held last Tuesday.  Two meetings were set up for the 

5th and 19th February, the gap between the two meetings allows for 

amendments, but on the 5th February the budget was voted through on the 

first meeting.   

 The key highlights are that there will be zero cuts to public services; council 
tax is below inflation; increased investment in recycling, ICT and bereavement 
services.  Fees and charges across the Council, i.e. parking and bereavement 
have an average increase of 1.7% over the last 4 years.  No jobs are at risk.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



2 

 

 

4 Notice Periods 

Jo discussed the changes that were made to notice periods as part of the Pay and 
Grading review: Grade 6 posts were increased to 2 months’ notice on both sides and 
Grade 7 posts were increased to 3 months on both sides.  All other staff were 
unchanged.   

The proposal is now to change Grade 5 and 6 roles to 3 months’ notice on both sides. 
The period between submitting notice and the employee leaving can be very short 
when there are holidays / flexi to use.  This change will apply to both new and existing 
staff. 

Cllr Pollen asked if this is normal practice in other Councils and Jo replied that it is. 

Brent asked if the Council could hold staff to the notice period if they wanted to leave.  
Jo responded that if someone asked to be released early it would be considered case 
by case. 

Cllr Pollen asked about the terms and conditions of zero hours staff to ensure that 
they are not less favourable – Claire to check zero hours contracts re. notice periods 

Unions to consult with members 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CD 
 
 
 
HT / BP 
 
 
 

5 Clear Desk Policy 

Claire explained that the Council needs to look at the way it is holding information to 
comply with GDPR regulations.  The GDPR Project Group have written a new policy, 
which is planned to be implemented on 1st April.  Jo highlighted that there are a 
couple of changes to be made to the policy: 

 Data Protection Bill is now Data Protection Act 

 To make clear to employees that audits will be carried out and staff who 
persistently do not comply will be subject to disciplinary action. 

Cllr Pollen suggested that this change to culture would require briefings to staff. 

Helen asked if photographs, personal items, drinks etc. could be left on desks – Jo 
replied that it just applies to paperwork. 

Brent highlighted that there is not sufficient facilities at Moresby to lock all paperwork 
away.  Jo replied that there will be a transition plan and facilities will be available.  Cllr 
Pollen said that this policy should not be implemented until facilities are in place and 
that this should apply equally right through the organisation up to Senior 
Management. 

Trade Union Facility 

Brent raised the issue that there is no trade union facility available to meet with 
members.  Jo confirmed that the room at Moresby that was identified was needed for 
storage and another room had no electricity.  Jo stated that it would be looked at 
again as part of the accommodation review.  Jo highlighted that all meeting rooms on 
all sites are available to be booked by Trade Unions.  The small interview room on the 

 

Page 14



3 

 

ground floor at Catherine Street is being used by CLT but can be booked for meetings, 
Jo also suggested that, as an interim measure, single occupancy offices could be used 
when the occupier is not at work. 

6 Smoking Free Policy 

Claire updated the group on the new policy and explained that designated smoking 
areas have been looked at and outdoor workers are mentioned in the policy.  There is 
assistance for staff that want to give up smoking.   

The policy has been to the Health & Safety Committee. 

Cllr Pollen added that there probably should be a smoking shelter.  Jo stated that 
there is a shelter at Moresby but The Copeland Centre is not CBC’s building and the 
Market Hall is in a public place. 

Cllr Moore asked if it was clear that e-cigarettes can’t be charged in the building as 
they can set on fire.  Jo responded that this could apply to all devices.  Jo added that 
vaping is treat the same as cigarettes which complies with the law and the health and 
welfare of staff. 

 

7 Holiday Leave Year – Waste & Parks 

Claire explained that the Parks and Waste areas struggle to accommodate staff leave. 

Jo reminded the group that the annual leave year was changed from April-March to 
January-December because the bank holidays differed each year depending on Easter, 
sometimes there were two Easters within one leave year, this caused a lot of admin 
work within the HR team to calculate the holidays each year.  With the new leave year 
being January-December the amount of bank holidays are always the same. 

Jo stated that the organisation would not be changing the leave year back to April-
March.  Jo added that this year sickness has put pressure on the service, as well as the 
workload of the additional recycling service, but also Manager’s need to make sure 
that staff are taking leave. 

Jo went on to suggest that the core issues of why staff cannot use leave should be 
dealt with, i.e. resources – bring extra people in to cover sickness. 

Brent mentioned that the Waste staff cannot get the rounds done in time without 
breaking health & safety rules and that they need more resources.  Brent also 
highlighted that some of the staff are fixed-term.  Jo responded that some of the 
fixed-term staff were extended until 31st March and the budget has now made that 
crew permanent. 

Claire to advise Cllr Pollen how many Waste staff are on fixed-term contracts 

Jo explained that in the summer month’s staff are required to work longer hours, i.e. 
to cover green waste, for which seasonal workers are recruited.  There are rigid start 
and finish times and it sometimes can be difficult to finish on time, they sometimes 
finish early or late.   

Jo said the proposal is to set up a working group to talk about annualised hours to 
look at resolving all of the issues and help to improve staff terms and conditions.  This 
could provide workers with a work life balance.  Jo also added that there was 
agreement last year from the Trade Unions to look at this as the staff were put on a 
higher rate of pay during the Pay & Grading process.  Brent asked if the staff would 
lose money.  Cllr Pollen replied that loss of earnings or unsociable hours would be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



4 

 

discussed if there is to be a working group and maybe financial rewards could be 
discussed. 

Claire to set up working group and feed back to STTUG (to include Parks and Waste 
reps and Trade Unions) 

 
 
 
 
 
CD/JP 

8 Communications 

Councillor Pollen said it should be publicised that 4 fixed-term employees have been 
made permanent. 

The Apprentices that were due to leave at the end of March have had their fixed-term 
contracts increased by one year, which gives them opportunity to apply for positions 
within the Council. 

CD 

9 Regular Updates 

The vacancies and contractors lists were circulated. 

It was noted that the list of contractors has substantially reduced.  Jo confirmed that 
the ICT contractors will stay until the end of March (2 potentially may stay longer).  Jo 
stated that the ICT review is ongoing and in-house skills and knowledge are being 
reviewed.  Training and development was made available in the last service review.  
There are no planned redundancies but not able to confirm at this stage that there 
will not be a redundancy.  It is the intention to staff the ICT department with staff that 
have the skills to do the roles.  We strive to offer secure permanent employment. 

Cllr Moore added that it is difficult in local government to offer long-term job security.  
The intention is to grow commercially working with external partners to create 
opportunities. 

 

10 Any Other Business 

Helen raised an issue from her members about the lack of ladies toilets in the Market 
Hall.  Helen’s members have asked if the unisex toilets can be separated in ladies and 
gents.  Helen said that there are now more male staff in the building and although the 
cleanliness issues have been dealt with there are also privacy issues. 

Jo replied that if the toilets are separated there will be a limited number of 
conveniences available to staff, it would restrict the number of toilets. 

(Update on Market Hall toilets following the meeting – Jo agreed that the toilets on 
the first floor will be separated into male and female and the ground floor toilets 
will remain unisex). 

Claire asked if health and safety update could be added to future agendas. 

Helen advised that she would be unable to attend any meetings in March – agreed to 
postpone the next March STTUG meeting. 

 
 
 
JMc 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JP 
 
 

11 Date of Next Meeting 

Rearrange March STTUG to early April 2019 if possible. JP 

 

Page 16



OSC 030419  

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDERS TASK AND FINISH GROUP 

LEAD MEMBER:  Cllr Graham Sunderland  
LEAD OFFICER: Jackie O’Reilly, Public Protection Manager 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Michaela Peet, Assistant Solicitor 
 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS? 
These Orders will continue to provide a safer and cleaner environment for Copeland’s 
residents and visitors. 
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE OSC? 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee created a Public Space Protection Order Task and 

Finish group, at the request of the Executive Director, at their meeting on the 31st May 

2018. The Task and Finish group is made up of seven councillors and has met three times to 

date. The group has welcomed the input of stakeholders such as Parish Councils, Police, 

Girl’s Gang and the Harbour Commissioners. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) gives the 

Council new powers to protect communities.  
 
1.2 Decisions to introduce or change Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs) which 

affect three or more wards, for example relating to the control of dogs, would need 
Executive approval. Under the 2014 Act, the Council can decide to authorise persons 
other than Council officers to issue Community Protection Notices subject to those 
persons being identified in an Order issued by the Government. Any decisions to 
authorise other persons in this way would be taken by the Executive. 
 

1.3 The Public Spaces Protection Orders replace the current Dogs Control and 
Designated Spaces Orders on the 20 October 2017. These Orders cannot be for a 
period of more than three years but they can be extended under Section 60 of the 
Act for further periods of three years prior to the Order lapsing. Any variations and 
discharge can also be done under section 61 of the Act. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee are recommended to: 
 

a) Recommend to the Executive that the draft Alcohol Control Order and Dog Control 
Order be implemented.  

 
 
  
 
  
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



1.4 The Local Authorities in making PSPOs must be satisfied that two condition are met;  
 

i) The Council continues to be satisfied on reasonable grounds that if the 
Orders were not made the specific activities described in the proposed PSPOs 
would be carried out in Copeland and would have a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those people in the locality; and 

 
ii) The Council continues to be satisfied that the effect of the activities 

described in the proposed PSPOs would be of persistent nature, 
unreasonable and fully justify the continuation of the restrictions to continue 
being imposed by the proposed PSPO. 

 
2. EXECUTIVE 

 
Please find attached the notice of decisions taken under delegated powers by the 
Executive on the 18th July 2017. 

 
2.1 The Executive made the following decisions;  

 
i) The draft orders for Alcohol Control (appendix A) and for Dog Control (appendix 

B) were approved for consultation purposes;  
 

ii) Authorised Persons for issuing a Fixed Penalty Notice are the Waste and 
Enforcement Manager, Environmental Health Manger and Open Spaces Manager 
or any person authorised by them to do so;  

 
iii) The Solicitor with the Waste and Enforcement Manager and Portfolio Holder be 

delegated authority to amend and make minor alterations as required; 
 

iv) The delegation of functions and responsibilities as set out in paragraph 1.2 of the 
report be agreed; 

 
v) Fix the amount of fixed penalty for offences under the draft orders at £100 or 

£50 if payment is made within 10 days of the penalty being imposed 
 

3. TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 

3.1 The Task and Finish Group considered the responses from the consultation. Where 
appropriate these were fed into the draft orders and amendments made. 

 
3.2 The Task and Finish Group also heard from other stakeholders such as Parish 

Councils, Police, Girl’s Gang and the Harbour Commissioners. This information has 

been fed into the draft orders that are before the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Page 18



3.3 The Task and Finish Group have approved the two draft orders; the Alcohol Control 

Order (appendix A) and the Dog Control Order (appendix B) and wish for the same to 

go back to the executive to then be implemented.  

 

3.4 The Task and Finish Group have analysed the information provided by Inspector 

Smiley of Cumbria Constabulary and have drafted a further order in respect of 

Intoxicating and Psychoactive Substances. The need for this order is due to a number 

of complaints being received by the police and other agencies with regard to drug 

use within the three areas specified within the order. As the order only affects one 

ward this has been passed to the public protection manager for implementation.  

 

3.5 The Task and Finish Group will continue to work on any other new orders which may 

be necessary. The Task and Finish Group felt it important that the draft orders in 

respect of Alcohol Control and Dog Control be implemented as soon as possible to 

replace the previous orders and ensure the Council and its Partners are able to 

provide an appropriate and robust response to anti-social behaviour issues in 

Copeland.  

 
4. FIXED PENALTY NOTICES 

 

4.1 The Executive confirmed they agree the Fixed Penalty Notice should be increased 

from £80 to £100 but reduced to £50 if paid with 10 days.  

4.2 With regards to offences relating to the breach of Alcohol Control the penalty for 
the offence on summary conviction is a fine not exceeding level 2 currently £500, 
and offences relating to breach of Dog Control the penalty for the offence on 
summary conviction is a fine not exceeding level 3 currently £1000. 
 

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The estimated cost of replacing existing “dog control” signage and would be £6,000, 

full costings will be submitted in the final report to Executive.  
 

5.2 The estimated costs of replacing existing “alcohol” signage would be £3,000 full 
costings will be submitted in the final report to Executive.  
 

6. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPROT?  
 
6.1 Reduction in antisocial behaviour making Copeland a cleaner safer environment for 

its residents and visitors.  
 

6.2 Reduction in crime due to antisocial behaviour.  
 

Page 19



7. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
7.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: The updates and delegated powers 

contained within the draft orders strengthens the Council’s legal position with 
regard to taking enforcement action as and when deemed appropriate. 
 

7.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  The financial implications of the proposed 
recommendation is set out in this report. The final report to the Executive will need 
to identify the budget to meet the additional costs set out in this report. 

 

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – Draft PSPO - Alcohol and Schedule and maps 

Appendix B – Draft PSPO – Dog Control and Schedule and maps 

 

List of Background Documents: 

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Paper to Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 3rd April, 2019

Topic: Time for a Rural Strategy

Portfolio Holder: Mayor Mike Starkie
Corporate Lead: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director

Summary and Recommendation

The  Rural Services Network (RSN) have this year in 2019 put out a call for support to call on 
Government to develop and implement a national rural strategy.   In line with their role, the 
RSN have been working with local authorities and other service providers on the rural 
issues.  We have contributed and responded previously to their consultations and policy 
discussions.

Attached is the overview paper which OSC is being requested to consider and comment on.   
The overarching message is that rural areas are not being adequately resourced to deliver in 
line with the characteristics and service challenges.    RSN are asking us to debate and 
support the call.  They highlight issue areas which are very familiar for Copeland including 
housing, resources, economy, health and welfare, connectivity, transport and skills and 
work.  

Within the paper attached RSN set out points they propose must be included in a new 
Government Rural Strategy.  OSC are recommended to focus on these points and how this 
Council might wish to engage in this call.

.

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Time for a Rural Strategy: Our messaging  

The following document sets out our top line asks of Government and tailored messages and proof points for 
engaging with Government. It is aimed at helping to achieve cut-through with Parliamentarians in particular and 
designed to help make you our case and shape discussions with these individuals.  

Overarching message  

 SCENE SETTER: England’s rural areas are home to 9.4 million people according to 2016 population estimates. 
That is, 17% of the population of England live in small rural towns, villages, hamlets and isolated dwellings. 
This is more people than live in Greater London.  

 THE PROBLEM: Rural communities are not a focus of Government decision-making and are frequently 
overlooked in a policy environment dominated by urban thinking and by urban policy concerns. As a result, 
these communities miss out on important benefits, or experience unintended consequences from policies 
which are poorly thought through from a rural perspective. In addition there can be distinct challenges in 
delivering to small and spread out settlements or where economies of scale are harder to achieve  

 THE SOLUTION: In order for rural communities to be sustainable, mainstream policies must be workable in 
rural areas. Change is needed to overcome years of underinvestment and public sector austerity and issues 
with the rural policy framework.  

 WHY NOW: With Brexit just around the corner, there is an urgent need for a new settlement for rural areas, 
which replaces the current model based heavily on European Union policies and funding streams.  

 THE CALL TO ACTION: It is time for a Rural Strategy which raises rural opportunities and challenges up the 
political agenda to benefit the national interest.  

 The proposed Rural Strategy must be comprehensive, long term and properly resourced with local delivery 
being the preferred course wherever possible.  

Issue area: Thriving rural economy  

Key message:  Businesses of all types, sizes and sectors should be supported to prosper, grow, and provide 
decently paid employment opportunities. In 2020 EU programmes such as the LEADER and EAFRD 
initiatives will end. These have provided vital support for rural business growth, diversification and 
innovation. A new Rural Strategy must account for this and provide businesses with the support they 
need to create thriving local economies.  

Proof points:  

 Most registered businesses in rural areas are small. Almost 18% have no employees, being sole 
traders or partnerships. 84% of employees in rural areas work in SMEs.  

 There is a significant outflow of people from rural areas commuting to urban-based jobs.  

Page 137



 
 

 Whilst the unemployment rate in rural areas is relatively low, many job opportunities are poorly 
paid, seasonal or insecure. Many have two or more part-time jobs to make ends meet. Median 
average earnings for rural employment are £21,400, 10% less than in England as a whole (£23,700).  

 Some Local Enterprise Partnerships have failed to take rural priorities into account – focusing their 
efforts on large urban projects.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 Scale up the Government’s ambitions for rural economies with the announcement of a significant 
investment programme.  

 Ensure EU business support programmes are replaced with a dedicated, rural business – including 
social or community enterprises - support programme, which could be funded from the 
Government’s proposed Shared Prosperity Fund.  

 Rural proof the Industrial Strategy: Where new initiatives are tested this should include rural pilots 
and where groups are set-up to take forward elements they should include rural specialists.  

 Ensure LEP Boards receive training on rural proofing and require all LEPs covering rural places to 
identify and target their priorities through a bespoke strategy or action plan, the delivery of which is 
monitored.  

 LEP end of year reports should be required to state what has been delivered in rural areas.  

Issue area: Broadband and mobile connectivity  

 Key message: Digital infrastructure is essential for a modern economy and to enable fair access to 
services and other opportunities, yet there remains a noticeable gap between connectivity levels in 
rural and urban areas.  

 If constraints to digital adoption in rural areas such as skills and recruitment could be overcome, it 
could unlock at least £12bn of extra productivity per annum. A new Rural Strategy is needed to 
ensure all rural households and businesses have the option of affordable and reliable access to 
broadband and mobile networks.  

Proof points:  

 In England’s rural areas 15% of premises – households and businesses – are unable to access a 
broadband connection with the 10Mbps download speed –the speed Ofcom considers necessary for 
everyday online tasks.  

 Indoor signal is still poor, with phone calls on all four networks only possible at 59% of premises in 
rural areas. 4G is only accessible inside 19%.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 Deliver the Government’s plans for a rural first approach to using public funds to stop rural areas 
falling behind in the roll out of full fibre networks.  

 Allocate funding for broadband rollout in the Spending Review to build on the £200m mentioned in 
the Budget.  

 Reinforce the Government’s efforts to promote the business benefits of upgrading to a superfast 
connection and encourage businesses to do so.  

 Commit Ofcom to set sufficiently stretching targets when auctioning the next round of mobile 
network licences.  

 Support the sharing of phone masts by providers (and if necessary regulate for) to increase 
coverage. Ensure rural communities feature prominently in plans to develop 5G networks.  

 

Page 138



 
 

Issue area: Transport  

Key message:  Transport is crucial to life opportunities and poor links can compound isolation and loneliness. 
People of all ages must have the means to travel to services, jobs, and for social purposes.  

Proof points:  

 Rural residents need to travel on average 54% (over 10,000 miles) further than their urban 
counterparts and one in nine rural households does not have a car.  

 Local authorities in rural areas have far less funding available to support bus services. In 2017/18 such 
expenditure in predominantly rural areas was £6.72 per resident, compared with £31.93 in 
predominantly urban areas. Expenditure to cover concessionary bus fares was £13.48 (rural) and 
£25.54 (urban).  

 During 2016/17 alone, 202 bus services were withdrawn altogether in shire areas and a further 191 
services were reduced or altered.  

 Community transport schemes fall outside the current concessionary fares scheme.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 Reverse the widespread decline in rural bus services and make them a more attractive option for 
rural travellers.  

 Deliver sustained support for complementary community transport schemes and ensure future 
transport innovations benefit rural communities.  

 Commit to examine rural transport needs as part of the Government’s Future of Mobility work and 
produce recommendations.  

 Ensure the continuation of the Bus Service Operators Grant at its current levels and double the 
Government’s Community Minibus Fund with rural areas as a target focus.  

Issue area: Housing  

Key message:  Rural communities will only thrive if they are home to residents from mixed age groups and 
backgrounds. A new Rural Strategy must ensure that those who are brought up locally or work in 
rural areas have a chance to buy or rent a home they can afford.  

Proof points:  

 Average house prices are £44,000 higher in rural areas than urban areas.  
 Options for those on low-incomes seeking social rented housing are typically limited in small rural 

settlements. Only 8% of households in villages live in social housing compared to 19% in urban areas.  
 Two thirds of rural local authorities say that affordable housing delivery decreased in their rural areas 

in 2017. This follows a change in planning policy, with developers no longer required to include any 
affordable homes on small market development sites.  

 For every eight rural homes sold to tenants under Right to Buy, only one replacement home was built 
severely depleting stocks.  

 Second homes and holiday lets often add to rural housing pressures. 

 A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 Put forward a realistic definition of affordable housing.  
 Deliver a planning policy to fit rural circumstances and bring forward development sites at a price 

suited to affordable housing.  

Page 139



 
 

 Offer a specific grant programme designed by housing associations in small rural settlements for rural 
affordable housing.  

 Take steps to reassure landowners that any land they release for rural exception sties will only be 
used for affordable housing and also widen to nearby parishes and settlements rather than local 
housing registers alone.  

 Allow local authorities to retain 100% of the proceeds from Right to Buy sales to reinvest and 
replenish the stock of affordable homes in line with the Government’s lifting of the cap on local 
authority borrowing to build social housing.  

Issue area: Health and welfare  

Key message:  Rural communities often experience difficulties in accessing health and support services with poor 
transport links and sectoral recruitment issues creating barriers to access, as well as contributing to 
isolation. We need a Rural Strategy to break down these barriers so rural communities have equal 
access to services at equal cost, and are better prepared to cater for their ageing population.  

Proof points:  

 By 2039 half of rural households will contain people aged 65 or over.  
 Rural and urban areas receive similar funding (per resident) under the NHS allocations to CCGs but 

this does not reflect the older rural demographic, which places extra demand on NHS services.  
 NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs) examine and redesign health services, but few 

have taken rural needs into account.  
 Rural residents face an additional cost burden for adult social care provision. In 2017/18 they funded 

76% of the cost of this through Council Tax.  The urban comparator figure was 53%.  
 Rates of delayed transfer of care from hospitals are higher in rural areas.  
 Rural residents face longer journeys to reach a GP surgery than their urban counterparts. Those who 

travel by public transport (where it is available) or walk have an average 18 minute journey, 
compared with nine minutes in urban areas.  

 Home care providers face various challenges, including difficulties recruiting staff and unproductive 
staff travel time between geographically spread clients.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 Deliver fair allocation of funding that reflects patterns of demand, accounts for extra costs of service 
provision and includes statutory social care provisions funded by central Government.  

 Place emphasis on preventative approaches and encourage innovation, looking beyond traditional 
care models, for example to seek more local delivery for some services.  

 Incorporate a housing policy ready for an ageing population: housing provisions for older people 
should be included in the Social Care Green Paper.  

Issue area: Access to jobs, skills and training  

Key message:  Young people from rural areas often experience difficulties travelling to Further Education colleges 
or sixth forms, curtailing their opportunities. A new Rural Strategy must ensure opportunities for 
jobs, skills and training are available to so young people can remain local and to stem ‘brain drain’.  

Proof points:  

 Average annual earnings in rural areas are £21,400, 10% lower than the England average of £23,700.  
 There is a significant outflow of people from rural areas commuting to urban-based jobs or sixth 

forms.  

Page 140



 
 

 Young people from rural areas often experience difficulties getting to Further Education colleges.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

• Recognise those travelling to post-16 education or training should be entitled to subsidised bus fares. 
Those aged 17 and 18 should receive the same free travel as the statutory and reimbursed provision 
for those up to 16.  

Issue area: Education  

Key message:  Rural schools play an important role at the heart of their communities and it is imperative to help 
them face rural challenges, remain sustainable and deliver high quality education. A new Rural 
Strategy must deliver a fairer funding formula to ensure all schools are properly resourced to ensure 
young people get the best start in life no matter where they live.  

 

Proof points:  

 More than 33%of rural schools can be defined as ‘very small’, 29% as ‘small’, against five and 16% of 
urban schools respectively.  

 Running costs (per pupil) increase as school size shrinks and rise sharply where schools have fewer 
than 50 pupils. Core costs, such as teaching salaries, energy bills and catering, are all typically above 
average.  

 Many rural schools have older buildings which are expensive to run and maintain.  
 Teaching and support staff in rural schools frequently need to multi-task, meaning many pupils are 

taught in classes with mixed age groups.  
 A third of rural head teachers say location impedes their ability to attract new teaching staff.  
 Given their higher cost base, small or isolated schools are often seen as unattractive by Multi-

Academy Trusts.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 Restate the Government’s presumption against school closures.  
 Deliver a National Funding Formula allowing for more than minimum staffing levels and should 

benefit all small rural schools.  
 Set aside sufficient funding for smaller schools and make extra support available for small rural 

schools to collaborate.  
 Ensure exposure to rural schools during teacher training and boost the provision of (affordable) key 

worker housing.  

Issue area: Public sector funding cuts  

Key message:  Central Government has historically and systematically underfunded rural areas giving them less 
grant per head than urban areas despite the fact that it costs more to provide the services. A new 
Rural Strategy must rectify this historic imbalance and take proper account of the added cost of rural 
service delivery while facilitating more decision-making locally, by those who understand the area.  

Proof points:  

 In 18/19, urban authorities will receive 49.34% (£123) per head in Settlement Funding Assessment 
grant more than their rural counterparts. 

Page 141



 
 

 Rural residents pay on average 20.17% (£91) per head more in council tax than urban counterparts 
due to receiving less government grant. 

 From 2011 to 2017 revenue funding to pay for local authority services was reduced by £16 billion.  
 There are roughly 10,000 Parish and Town Councils, mostly in rural areas. Increasingly, they are 

taking on facilities and services which principal local authorities can no longer afford to run.  

A new Government Rural Strategy must:  

 End the long funding squeeze to take pressure off vital services now at risk.  
 Move to fair funding allocations.  
 Remove the Government’s threat to impose a cap on increases to the precept charged by parish 

and town councils.  

 

Page 142



OSC 03/04/19

OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL REPORT

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director Operations
REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Betteridge

SUMMARY:

This report provides copies and an analysis and overview of the annual reports 
received by Council Members representing the Council in 2018/19 on Outside Bodies.

RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                              

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee are recommended to:
a)  consider and note the annual review reports received and any recommendations to 
Full Council on the detail provided; and
b)  identify any changes to the reporting process and feedback forms which would assist 
Members in their role and any recommendations to Full Council on improvements. 

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The outside bodies representation list is reviewed and agreed annually by Full 
Council.   The list includes for both outside body representation and Member 
thematic champions and for 2018/19 is reproduced at Appendix C.   This report 
relates to representation for the 2018/19 year.

1.2 Members formally allocated to outside body representation are expected to 
provide an annual feedback report.   Each year these reports are considered by 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to acknowledged where and how members 
have been active in their outside bodies.   Members use existing mechanisms, 
mainly linked officers, to feed any actions or issues into the council.  The 
Member Champions currently have the choice of using the annual feedback form 
to let all members know what they have been actively engaged with during the 
year.  

1.3 Members representing the Council on outside bodies have a responsibility to 
report back actions, issues and risk to ensure required activity is undertaken by 
the Council and any necessary concerns and mitigation is considered appropriate 
action taken.   A standard summary feedback form template is in place for 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



member representatives to use following a meeting which can then be circulated 
to the relevant officers and members for follow up information, communication 
and action.  

2. FEEDBACK RECEIVED

2.1 The responses from outside body member representatives are reproduced in 
Appendix A and B.  This includes 17 member representatives, 40% of outside 
bodies on the list, and 3 Member Champions.  As was evidenced in last year’s 
responses, Members have been active in their outside bodies during the past 
year.  They continue to work with officers and use existing mechanisms, 
including circulating notes and minutes of meetings attended to feed issues into 
the Council.  As highlighted last year, a good proportion of the outside bodies 
publish their papers which are available to Members and Staff to access eg 
Copeland Community Fund.

2.2 A number of key partnerships are reported on through the Portfolio reports to 
Full Council and using the quarterly performance management and reporting 
framework.   The latter is part of the OSC performance sub-committee activity. 

2.3 A number of members are using the summary feedback form after meetings, 
some are using officers to feed information and issues in and other member 
representatives are sending information to go in the members weekly update.    
The main feedback focus is on action, issues and potential risks for the Council to 
be aware of or to respond to.   Minimal risks have been identified in the 
members feedback from outside bodies.   No annual report form has identified 
direct risks for the Council from the outside body representation and actions.  All 
representatives reporting believe that the outside body representation they are 
reporting on is beneficial to the Council and should continue.

2.4 The review invites further comments and these include:
 A need for a review of the Cycle Partnership activity in line with the 

Council’s annual grant.
 There are clashes with other meetings
 Support for locality partnerships is important and the Council should 

continue to do this.   (We currently provide a small sum each year to 
each locality partnership for administrative costs).

 Confirmation that a new rep will be needed for the Pensions Forum 
moving forward and whoever takes this on should “have a long term 
commitment to grasp the complexities of pensions. Ideally they 
should be portfolio holder for Finance.”  Cllr Troughton also 
highlighted the vital need that both officers and the member attend 
the Forum and take up the opportunity to meet with the actuary.  In 
this past year there has been no finance officer attending the Forum 

Page 144



and it is proposed this should change back to an officer attending 
with the Member from 2019/20.
 

2.5 Three theme Champions have reported on their annual activities:  Older Persons, 
Heritage and Homelessness.  This annual reporting is not obligatory and those 
received are reproduced at Appendix B.  Champions do use opportunities 
throughout the year to report through our standard communications 
mechanisms on issues and activities.  Some Champions take the opportunity to 
meet with staff and key partners regularly, eg monthly, others are active 
members of projects.   The Heritage Champion has had a quiet year in line with 
the Whitehaven Townscape Heritage Initiative completing in Quarter 3.  All three 
reports highlight the value of the champion role to the Council and delivery of 
our priorities in this area.  

3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The purpose of the annual review report is to ensure members are able at least 
once a year to reflect and report on their activity highlighting any issues.  No 
review report received has asked for a review of the representation to the 
outside body so it is expected existing outside bodies representation will be 
continued and will be allocated as usual at the Annual Meeting in May 2019 for 
2019/20.  We have already set in action a review of cycle partnership to 
understand the updated position and status of the partnership to inform the 
2019/20 representation allocations.

3.2 In summary, the annual reporting for 2018/19 has been at 40%, less than the 
nearly 60% in 2017/18 and significantly less than the 80% response from the 
previous year.  It must be noted that the timing of the annual reporting request 
is earlier than usual due to wishing to get the feedback to the last Full Council of 
this four year term before elections for the Council in May.

3.3 The majority of representatives are attending regularly.  The use of feedback 
mechanisms vary and representatives have access to weekly member briefings 
to get relevant information circulated to other members.   As reflected last year, 
officer attendance does assist with ensuring that actions, issues and risks get fed 
in directly.  It still remains the case that the use of summary feedback forms 
throughout the year is inconsistent.  OSC may wish to take a view on this.

3.4 This report is provided to OSC for consideration and comment.  Any comment 
will be circulated to all members via the OSC minutes distribution or 
recommendations from OSC taken to the next Full Council meeting in April 2019.

List of Appendices 

Page 145



Appendix A – Outside Bodies Feedback Forms received
Appendix B – Member Champion Feedback Forms received
Appendix C -  Agreed Outside Bodies List 2018/19

List of Background Documents:
Previous Reports, Forms received.

Appendix A 2017/18 - Outside Body Annual Feedback Received

Page 146



Appendix B 2017/18 – Member Champion Annual Feedback Received

Members on Outside Bodies 
Annual Review Feedback Form 2017/18

Frequency of meetings:  
Number of meetings attended in 201718:
Reporting activities undertaken in 2017/18:

What were the key outcomes from your representation on this Outside Body for 
the Council and Copeland residents in 2017/18?:

Were there any key risks to mitigate or actions needed by the Council in 
relation to this Outside Body during 2017/18?:

Please confirm if the outstanding body you represent CBC on pays or 
contributes to your travel and other costs   N/A
If yes, how does this happen

Name of Councillor(s): Hugh Branney

Name of Outside Body:             Young People’s Champion

Maintaining links with key projects including Inspira, Foyer.  Encouraging leisure 
contract to engage with young people’s requirement for facilities as part of 
consultation activity on Cleator Moor Bowls Centre and Whitehaven Sports 
Centre.

No

Engaged with highlighting issues generally across my roles for the Council rather 
than attending specific meetings.

Page 147



Do you have any further comments or issues to be carried forward into 
2018/19?

Signed: Hugh Branney Dated:  April 2018

Appendix C 2017/18 – Outside Bodies List

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL
Members on Outside Bodies 

Annual Feedback Form 2017/18

Frequency of meetings:  
Every two months with the Housing Team  and ** with Calderwood

Number of meetings attended in 2017/18: 4 with Housing Team &  ** with 
service providers (inc Calderwood meetings and events and meeting with 
WCT)
Reporting activities undertaken in 2017/18 including type and where 
feedback given:

Positive feedback relating to the Council’s apprenticeship programme and the 
young people engaged with this.  Expect another good year for engagement in 
2018/19.
Will stay engaged with GLL updates and redesigns to ensure young people’s 
agendas are picked up.

Name of Councillor(s): Cllr Sam Pollen

Name of Outside Body:             Homelessness Champion - meeting with the 
team and service providers.

 Developed and agreed Homeless Champion Role Profile

 Agreed schedule of meetings for year ahead with Housing Team

 Attended CBL Policy Review Event in Sept 17

 Attended Copeland Housing Partnership event in Oct 17

 Attended “Housing Providers and Vulnerable Customers” discussion in Nov 
17

 Develop relationship with Time to Change and Supported Calderwood 
events throughout the year

 Hosted special briefing on Homelessness Reduction Act to Full Council for 
members in Feb 18

 Received review of the year from Housing Team and Fed into Service Plan 
and KPIs for homelessness 2018/19 in April 18



Page 148



What were the key outcomes from your representation on this Outside Body for 
the Council and Copeland residents in 2017/18:

Were there any key risks to mitigate or actions needed by the Council in 
relation to this Outside Body during 2017/18:

Please confirm if the outstanding body you represent CBC on pays or 
contributes to your travel and other costs Yes   /   No
Do you have any comments or issues from the outside body 
representation to be carried forward into 2018/19?

In your opinion should the Council continue to have member 
representation on this outside body    Yes   /   
Please use this space to provide any comment on your position:

Signed: Sam Pollen Dated:   8 May 2018

 Reputational benefits, promoting joint working with partner agencies

 Raised profile of homelessness externally in the Borough through 
supporting events and generating press coverage eg Calderwood litter pics 
and funding events

 Understood impact of HRA on resources for the council and supported 
team proposals to meet resources needs and utilise additional Govt funding

 Championed the work of the team, its importance and success to members 
of council

 Ensured needs of vulnerable customers and social inclusion high on CBC 
agendaThe key risk is related to the Introduction of the HRA and ensuring the Council and 

its staff were fully informed prepared and properly resourced to meeting its new 
statutory duties under the new Act.

 Keen to generate opportunities for more media coverage in 18/19 so that 
people understand the service we offer and the good work we do with 
homeless people, especially preventing it

 Need to continue our commitment to Domestic Abuse and sexual 
exploitation and work in partnership to provide a more streamlined services 
to those experiencing it

 Would like to see encourage better attendance from other members at 
special events (sadly only 6 members attended the previous briefing)

 Recognise that we have a core of challenging customers  (criminal 
background, drug use, asb etc) for whom our current accommodation offer 
is not suitable due to risk and work with County to secure some services for 
this heard to reach and hard to engage group

Page 149



Appendix C 2017/18 Outside Bodies List

OUTSIDE BODIES 2017/18 

 Outside Body / 
Partnership

Member 
representative

Corporate
Strategy 
Alignment

Annual 
Report 
received

1 Copeland Community 
Fund

Mayor, Mike Starkie 
and Portfolio Holder for 
Nuclear and Corporate 
Services, Councillor 
David Moore.

Reserves: Councillor 
Lena Hogg for Mike 
Starkie
Councillor Keith 
Hitchen for Councillor 
David Moore

All 
Ambitions

Yes x2

2 Greenwich Leisure 
Limited Board - 
Copeland

Councillors David Riley 
and John Dirom

Ambition 3 Yes

3 Copeland Partnership Mayor, Mike Starkie, 
and open to all 
Members

All 
Ambitions

Yes

4 Howgate and 
Distington Partnership

All in Partnership area

5 NE Copeland  - NE 
Locality Partnership

All in Partnership area

6 West Locality 
Partnership

All in Partnership area

7 Mid Copeland 
Partnership

All in Partnership area

8 Whitehaven 
Partnership

All in Partnership area

Page 150



9 South Copeland 
Partnership

All in Partnership area

10 3 Tier Quarterly 
Meetings

Open to all members to 
attend

All 
Ambitions

11 West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership 

Portfolio Holder 
(delegated to 
Councillor Linda Jones 
Bulman)

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

Yes

12 West Cumbria Site 
Stakeholder Group 
(WCSSG)

Mayor, Councillors Ray 
Gill and Fee Wilson

Ambition 1 
and 3

14 WCSSG 
LLWR

Councillors Jackie 
Bowman; Alan Jacob 
and 
Graham Sunderland

Ambition 1 
and 3

Yes

15 WCSSG
Spent Fuel 
Management  and 
Nuclear Materials 

Councillors John Kane; 
Alistair Norwood and 
Charles Maudling

Ambition 1 
and 3

16 WCSSG
Risk and Hazard 
Reduction and Waste 
Management  Working 
Group

Councillors 
David Banks; Felicity 
Wilson and Andy Pratt

Ambition 1 
and 3

Yes

17. WCSSG
Environmental Health

Councillors John 
Bowman and Alistair 
Norwood

Ambition 1 
and 3

Yes

18. WCSSG
Emergency Planning

Councillor Felicity 
Wilson

Ambition 1 
and 3

Yes

20 Cumbria Community 
Foundation – West 
Cumbria Grants Panel

Councillor John Kane
Councillor Keith  
Hitchen

Ambition 1 
and 3

21 West Cumbria 
Cycleway Partnership

Councillor Graham 
Sunderland

Ambition 1 
and 3

22 Cumbria LEP Mayor, Mark Starkie, 
West Cumbria 
representative – shared 
on 2 year cycle with 
Allerdale Borough 

All 
Ambitions

Page 151



Council

23 Cumbria Leadership 
Board

Mayor, Mike Starkie All 
Ambitions

Yes

24 Joint District Leaders 
Board

Mayor, Mike Starkie All 
Ambitions

Yes

25 Cumbria Housing 
Group

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth

All 
Ambitions

26 West Cumberland 
Hospital Stakeholder 
Group

Mayor, Mike Starkie Ambition 1 
and 3

27 Cumbria Public Health 
Alliance 

Portfolio Holder All 
Ambitions

28 Cumbria Health & 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee

Chair of CBC OSC  All 
Ambitions

Yes

29 Cumbria Waste 
Partnership

Portfolio Holder All 
Ambitions

30 Lake District National 
Parks Authority

Councillor Hugh 
Branney

Ambition 3 
and 4

Yes

31 LDNP Partnership Councillor Keith 
Hitchen

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

32 PCC Panel Councillor Graham 
Sunderland

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

33 Connecting Cumbria Councillor John 
Bowman

All 
ambitions

Yes

34 Pensions  Forum Councillor Gillian 
Troughton

Ambition 4 

35 Cumbria Nature 
Partnership

Councillor Hugh 
Branney

Ambition 1 
and 3

Yes

36 Cumbria Community 
Foundation Board

No representative Ambition 1 
and 3

37 North West Employers 
Organisations

Councillor John 
Bowman

Ambition 3 
and 4

Yes

38 Nuleaf Portfolio Holder for 
Nuclear 

All 
ambitions

39 The Alliance Councillor Ray Gill Ambition 1, Yes

Page 152



2 and 3

40 Armed Forces 
Champion

Councillor Allan Forster Ambition 3

41 Conservation 
Champion

Councillor Mike 
McVeigh

All 
ambitions

42 Equalities Champion Councillor Anne 
Bradshaw

All 
Ambitions

43 Safeguarding 
Champion

Councillor Anne 
Bradshaw

All 
ambitions

44 Homeless Champion Councillor Sam Pollen Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

Yes

45 Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
liaison Champion

Portfolio Holder All 
ambitions

46 ASB Champion Councillor Jeanette 
Forster

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

47 Young Peoples 
Champion

Councillor Hugh 
Branney

All 
ambitions

Yes

48 Older Persons 
Champion

Vacancy Councillor Jean 
Lewthwaite

All 
Ambitions

49 SME Champion Councillors Doug 
Wilson and Gillian 
Troughton to share 
North and South

Ambition 1, 
2 and 4

50 Democracy and 
Engagement 
Champion

Councilor Andy Pratt Ambition 3 
and 4

51 Health and Wellbeing 
Champion

Portfolio Holder All 
ambitions

52 Whitehaven Maternity 
Trust

Councillors Jeanette 
Forster, Mark Holliday 
& Carla Arrighi

Ambition 3

53 Pipers Educational 
Trust

Councillor Brian O’Kane Ambition 3

Page 153



Appendix D 2017/18 Example of Champion feedback

From: Cllr Michael McVeigh
Sent: 14 May 2018 17:35
Subject: World Heritage Status. 
 
Had the pleasure to attending "What can we do with World Heritage Status" ?Held at 
the University of Cumbria Campus Ambleside. Friday 11th May.
The gathering was under the auspices of ACT. Action with communities in Cumbria.
Guests primarily from The Lake District National Park Partnership.
 Programme was speakers from some of the relevant groups with interest of , Living, 
Working, Business, Academia, and Council member's from Authority's with vested 
interest in the way forward from a National park perspective now it has World Heritage 
Status.
Fran Richardson from Act Chair of meeting.
Eric Barker giving insight of the Journey getting the Status from Unesco nomination in 
2011 through to 2017 acceptance , 1000 plus other unique sites world wide. 
Outstanding significance.
Presentations from members groups on the Challenges and Opportunities of WHS sites. 
Paul Armstrong Head of Enterprise and Innovation University of Cumbria giving 
interesting presentation on opportunity for Academia make its mark and grasp chances 
for young people working within the site.
Jim Webster Chair of Cumbria Rural Panel, Member of the Farmer Network and LDNPP 
post CAP reform group. Farming community a lot of Challenges and Opportunity 
possibly.

Nick Lancaster, Langdale Leisure Ltd and chair of LDNPP Business Task Force , another 
very interesting presentation, 
We as Borough councillors living working on the Fringes , Border, had a much different 
perspective of the new status and it was never better highlighted at a planning 
application recently for an application on the immediate border of the Park and the 
objection given from "A friend of the Lake district national park" The objector gave 
every reason why the application should not be given permission, ignoring completely 
the fact we are working under government edict of The National Planning Policy Forum 
which states we must presume in Favour unless extenuating circumstance dictate 
differently, in this instance they didn't and after two visits it was given permission, the 
point is those with interests in the National park must remember we have a Border line 
and it doesn't go 500 meters in as a buffer zone.

Page 154



Of course as an Authority we wish to work with the LDNPA Planners but equally they 
must recognize we have Growth plans often running close to the park and sure they will 
do that.
It was good seeing three other councillors from Copeland taking part in the discussion's, 
One Borough and two town councillors. Upwards and Onwards.  

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Annual Feedback Form 2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 

Frequency of meetings: bi-monthly plus Annual Meeting (June 2018) and Away Day 

(Sept 2018) and Small Grants Panel on request   

Number of meetings attended in 2018/19:  10  

Reporting activities undertaken in 2018/19 including type and where feedback given: 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What were the key outcomes from your representation on this Outside Body for the 
Council and Copeland residents in 2018/19 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Were there any key risks to mitigate or actions needed by the Council in relation to 

this Outside Body during 2018/19 

 

 

 

 

Name of Councillor(s): David Moore   

 

 Name of Outside Body:        Copeland Community Fund       

 

As above – contribution on decision making re Fund Priorities and on specific grant applications  

including investment grants being considered at Board and continued monitoring of e.g. 

Whitehaven Campus, Rosehill Theatre. 

 

Interlinkage with Council priorities e.g. social inclusion agenda etc and ability to identify and 

prioritise projects for use of socioeconomic community benefit programme funds. 

 

Role on the CCF Board is to contribute to decision making processes for large grant requests to 

Fund and strategic direction e.g. Fund’s Vision, Strategic Focus, Future Priorities and allocation of 

funds between different Fund programmes.  

My role was as chair CCF Board up to June AGM and then a board member. 

 

Page 169



Please confirm if the outstanding body you represent CBC on pays or contributes to 

your travel and other costs       No 

 

Do you have any comments or issues from the outside body representation to be 

carried forward into 2019/20? 

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In your opinion should the Council continue to have member representation on this 

outside body       Yes   

Please use this space to provide any comment on your position: 

 

 

Signed: Date 20/03/2019                                                                                                   

       

            

            

            

     

 

Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Members on Outside Bodies or Champions

Annual Feedback Form 2018/19

Frequency of meetings: 

 6 weekly meetings with Officers 
 Monthly visits to Calderwood house
 Attendance at legislation change briefing 

sessions (Homeless Reduction Act 2018)
 Representation at events organised by our 

Homeless provider partners and Egremont 
Town Council, in role of homeless 
Champion, such as litter picks, coffee 
morning, allotment days etc

 Calderfest event, crab fair and Christmas 
fair

 Calderwood Annual Homeless Heroes event
 Whitehaven Community Trust Annual 

stakeholder event

Number of meetings attended in 2018/19: In excess of 50 events and meetings 
in this role

Reporting activities undertaken in 2018/19 including type and where feedback given:

What were the key outcomes from your representation on this Outside Body for the 
Council and Copeland residents in 2018/19:

Name of Councillor(s): Cllr Sam Pollen

Name of Outside Body:  Homeless Champion Role            

This role has raised awareness of the issues both amongst Coucil Members and with the general 
public meaning it is constantly on the agenda and mentioned at most meetings and events.  It has 
brought a significant amount of positive publicity using all media forms to celebrate the positive 
outcomes achieved for some of our most vulnerable residents. This has helped secure funding and 
donations for organisations like Calderwood House.  In doing so, it has helped the wider public 
understand the issues and overcome some of the fear and prejudice that sometimes exists against 
homeless people and the people who work with them to enable our officers and partners to do their 
work in a supportive environment.  Funding remains a constant challenge and this role ensures we 
do not forget that the current service is finely balance and reliant on external funding sources and 
seeks to ensure that funding is secured, replaced and where possible increased.

Reporting back through Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Homelessness Strategy Action Plan

Key updates captured in Housing Portfolio Holders Report with assistance of officers

Page 193



Were there any key risks to mitigate or actions needed by the Council in relation to 
this Outside Body during 2016/17:

The change in legislation under the Homelessness Reduction Act was our key risk over the past year 
because it has meant and increase in people for whom the council owes a duty.   It has also brought 
extensive procedural change and a massive increase in paperwork for staff.  I have kept upto date 
with the team on the introduction and impact of this massive change in homelessness legislation for 
Copeland.  I’m proud and pleased to report that the team have handled the changed very well 
providing a seamless service to customers and that it is now all in place and working well.

Please confirm if the outstanding body you represent CBC on pays or contributes to 
your travel and other costs      

Do you have any comments or issues from the outside body representation to be 
carried forward into 2019/20?

In your opinion should the Council continue to have member representation on this 
outside body    Yes, it is critical that this role continues to raise the profile and ensure appropriate 
resources are secured.

Please use this space to provide any comment on your position:

Whoever has the role in future should make regularly visits to all partners working to prevent 
homelessness in Copeland

Signed: Dated:        

Please return completed form to Clive Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer, by 
Wednesday, 20th March, 2019.

Homelessness remains a critical issue for Copeland and because it is not as visible on our streets 
as it is in many other towns we must not presume we do not have a problem.  It is testament to 
the organisations we work with, such as Calderwood House and Whitehaven Community Trust as 
well as our officers  and current resources that this is the case.   The Council must recognise that if 
the focus were to change and funding cut (including external funding) or not increased with levels 
of demand the situation could tip quickly and visible homelessness could be seen on our streets.

Page 194



Members on Outside Bodies or Champions

Annual Feedback Form 2018/19

Frequency of meetings: 1 per year (+6 Committee)

Number of meetings attended in 2018/19: 1 (+ 5 Committee)

Reporting activities undertaken in 2018/19 including type and where feedback given:

What were the key outcomes from your representation on this Outside Body for the 
Council and Copeland residents in 2018/19:

I continue to also be the District Council rep on the Cumbria LGPS Pensions Committee, so this 
report gives an update of that work too.
The three main themes from the year have been as follows.
Pooling
Members will recall that Government directed that all LGPS schemes should group together in pools. 
This will have the advantage of reducing the level of fees charged by the funds invested in. Cumbria 
is the Border to Coast pension pool (BCPP). Cumbria’s officers have been key players in the set up of 
BCPP. Indeed Cumbria’s Pensions Manager, Fiona Millar has now gone to work for BCPP.
BCPP has now appointed key staff and has passed the regulatory hurdles and registrations required 
by the Financial Services Authority.
Funds from the 12 partner pension schemes will not be instantly transferred into the pooled 
products but at appropriate times to minimise transition costs; longer term investments (such as 
infrastructure) may not be transferred for many years. 
Once funds start being invested there will be short-term transition costs but longer term fees 
savings. Copeland like all partner employers will benefit by maximising their investment return.
Equally BCPP cannot procure all the investment types simultaneously, so they are being developed 
sequentially to meet a timetable that meets with partners needs. 2 funds are live and another 2 
under development. Cumbria is currently transferring its UK Equities (10% of the fund - c£260m) into 
the BCPP fund.
NB the investment Strategy (which types of investments eg bonds, infrastructure, equities etc) 
remains with Cumbria Pensions committee. Cumbria LGPS remains in the upper quartile of LGPS 
schemes in terms of investment performance.
Data quality
Cumbria is consistently trying to improve the quality of data it has
- scheme member data eg address and contact details. Members can now receive annual pensions 
statements and other information online. However, amongst deferred members the online sign up is 
very low, and even amongst active employees relatively low. 

Name of Councillor(s): GILLIAN TROUGHTON

Name of Outside Body:           CUMBRIA LGPS PENSION FORUM   

A copy of the annual report was left in the Members’ Area – link here 
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/eLibrary/Content/Internet/536/654/1129/17170/43402145727.pdf
Forum slides  from October 2018 can be found at 
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/eLibrary/Content/Internet/536/654/1129/17170/43403141953.pdf
All part 1 papers from Pensions Committee can be found on the CCC website at 
http://councilportal.cumbria.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=150&Year=0 

Page 195

https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/eLibrary/Content/Internet/536/654/1129/17170/43402145727.pdf
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/eLibrary/Content/Internet/536/654/1129/17170/43403141953.pdf
http://councilportal.cumbria.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=150&Year=0


- pensionable pay. Employers are supposed to report monthly on pay but particularly amongst 
smaller employers this has been problematic. Of particular interest have been the number of 
‘pending leavers’ These are scheme members for whom no contributions have been made but for 
whom no notice of leaving employment has been received.
- other employee data. To allow for accurate valuation of scheme liabilities (how much pension will 
be required) it is essential to have information such as employee age and job band
Preparing for triannual valuation
All LGPS pensions schemes will have their triannual valuations this year. These valuations will 
determine the contributions from 2020.
Valuations determine the level liabilities (ie how much pension, death in service etc) against assets 
(value of funds invested). A shortfall between liabilities and assets is a deficit. Each of these is 
determined at an individual employer level ie Copeland’s deficit may be higher than the fund 
average.
Following valuation two rates will be set:
- lump sum to contribute to deficit recovery
- employer contribution rate for future investment
Copeland’s deficit will have reduced from 2016 but the exact level will to await figures from the 
actuary.
To get accurate figures and probably reduce contributions it is vital that all Copeland’s data is as up 
to date as possible.
Were there any key risks to mitigate or actions needed by the Council in relation to 
this Outside Body during 2018/19:

CBC has had some legacy issues from the cyber attack. These have been discussed with 
officers and resolved.

Please confirm if the outside body you represent CBC on pays or contributes to your 
travel and other costs      

CBC pays for Forum (but unclaimed). Pensions Committee pays for costs for Committee.

Do you have any comments or issues from the outside body representation to be 
carried forward into 2019/20?

A new rep will be required in 2019/20 as I am not standing. Whoever takes it on should have along 
term commitment to grasp the complexities of pensions. Ideally they should be the portfolio holder 
for Finance (in my opinion).

Officers are also able to attend the Forum but did not do so this year. As the triannual valuation 
takes place this year and the outcomes from that will influence the Council’s contributions from 
2020. It is vital that officers and the member attend forum and take up the opportunity to meet with 
the actuary;When the actuarial opinion is given as to the Council’s contributions to meet any deficit, 
it is important they are paid as a lump sum rather than over three years: investment interest is 
compounded and makes this more cost effective to the Council.

In your opinion should the Council continue to have member representation on this 
outside body    Yes  

Signed: Gillian Troughton Dated:        22 March 2019

Page 196



OUTSIDE BODIES 2018/19 (Updated December 2018)

 Outside Body / 
Partnership

Attending Officer Member 
representative

Corporate
Strategy 
Alignment

Comments / Links

1 Copeland Community 
Fund

Director of Customer 
and Community Services

Ray Gill and Portfolio 
Holder for Nuclear and 
Corporate Services, 
Councillor David 
Moore.

Reserves: Councillor 
Neil Ferguson for 
Councillor Ray Gill 
Councillor Andy Pratt 
for Councillor David 
Moore

All 
Ambitions

2 Greenwich Leisure 
Limited Board - 
Copeland

Director of Customer 
and Community Services

Councillor David Riley 
and Ian Hill

Ambition 3

3 Copeland Partnership Director of Customer 
and Community Services

Mayor, Mike Starkie, 
and open to all 
Members

All 
Ambitions

4 Howgate and 
Distington Partnership

Community 
Regeneration Officer

All in Partnership area

5 NE Copeland  - NE 
Locality Partnership

Community 
Regeneration Officer

All in Partnership area

6 West Locality 
Partnership

Community 
Regeneration Officer

All in Partnership area

P
age 197



7 Mid Copeland 
Partnership

Community 
Regeneration Officer

All in Partnership area

8 Whitehaven 
Partnership

Community 
Regeneration Officer

All in Partnership area

9 South Copeland 
Partnership

Community 
Regeneration Officer

All in Partnership area

10 3 Tier Quarterly 
Meetings

Director of Customer 
and Community Services

Open to all members to 
attend

All 
Ambitions

3 Tier meeting 
serviced by CALC -  
meetings move 
around the borough 

11 West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership 

Director of Customer 
and Community Services

Portfolio Holder Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

12 West Cumbria Site 
Stakeholder Group 
(WCSSG)

Managing Director Mayor, Councillors Ray 
Gill and Fee Wilson

Ambition 1 
and 3

14 WCSSG 
LLWR

None Councillors Jackie 
Bowman; Alan Jacob 
Dave Riley and 
Graham Sunderland

Ambition 1 
and 3

15 WCSSG
Spent Fuel 
Management  and 
Nuclear Materials 

None Councillors John Kane; 
Neil Ferguson Alistair 
Norwood and 
Charles Maudling

Ambition 1 
and 3

16 WCSSG
Risk and Hazard 
Reduction and Waste 
Management  Working 
Group

None Councillors 
David Banks; John 
Kane; Felicity Wilson 
and Andy Pratt

Ambition 1 
and 3

P
age 198



17. WCSSG
Environmental Health

None Councillors Gillian 
Troughton and Alistair 
Norwood

Ambition 1 
and 3

18. WCSSG
Emergency Planning

None Councillor Felicity 
Wilson

Ambition 1 
and 3

20 Cumbria Community 
Foundation – West 
Cumbria Grants Panel

None Councillor John Kane
Councillor Ged 
McGrath

Ambition 1 
and 3

21 West Cumbria 
Cycleway Partnership

Strategic Planning 
Manager

Councillor Graham 
Sunderland

Ambition 1 
and 3

Cumbria

22 Cumbria LEP None Mayor, Mark Starkie, 
West Cumbria 
representative – shared 
on 2 year cycle with 
Allerdale Borough 
Council

All 
Ambitions

23 Cumbria Leadership 
Board

None Mayor, Mike Starkie All 
Ambitions

24 Joint District Leaders 
Board

Managing Director Mayor, Mike Starkie All 
Ambitions

25 Cumbria Housing 
Group

Director of Customer 
and Community Services 
/ Strategic Housing 
Manager

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth

All 
Ambitions

26 West Cumberland 
Hospital Stakeholder 
Group

None Mayor, Mike Starkie Ambition 1 
and 3

27 Cumbria Public Health 
Alliance 

 Director of Customer 
and Community Services

Portfolio Holder All 
Ambitions

P
age 199



28 Cumbria Health & 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee

 None Chair of CBC OSC  or 
Nominee

All 
Ambitions

29 Cumbria Waste 
Partnership

Waste and Enforcement 
Manager

Portfolio Holder All 
Ambitions

30 Lake District National 
Parks Authority

None Councillor Hugh 
Branney

Ambition 3 
and 4

31 LDNP Partnership Economic Development 
Manager

Councillor Keith 
Hitchen

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

32 PCC Panel None Councillor Graham 
Sunderland

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

33 Connecting Cumbria None Councillor Gillian 
Troughton

All 
ambitions

34 Pensions  Forum Chief Finance Officer Councillor Gillian 
Troughton

Ambition 4 

35 Cumbria Nature 
Partnership

None Councillor Hugh 
Branney

Ambition 1 
and 3

Feeds into the 
Cumbria LEP

36 Cumbria Community 
Foundation Board

None Mayor, Mike Starkie Ambition 1 
and 3

Regional
37 North West Employers 

Organisations
None Councillor Ray Gill Ambition 3 

and 4

National 
38 Nuleaf As requested Portfolio Holder for All 

P
age 200



Nuclear ambitions
39 The Alliance As requested Councillor Ray Gill Ambition 1, 

2 and 3
Champions 
40 Armed Forces 

Champion
Councillor Allan Forster Ambition 3

41 Conservation 
Champion

Councillor Mike 
McVeigh

All 
ambitions

42 Equalities Champion Councillor Anne 
Bradshaw

All 
Ambitions

43 Safeguarding 
Champion

Councillor Anne 
Bradshaw

All 
ambitions

44 Homeless Champion Councillor Sam Pollen Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

45 Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
liaison Champion

Portfolio Holder All 
ambitions

46 ASB Champion Councillor Jeanette 
Forster

Ambition 1, 
3 and 4

47 Young Peoples 
Champion

Councillor Hugh 
Branney

All 
ambitions

48 Older Persons 
Champion

Councillor Jean 
Lewthwaite

All 
Ambitions

49 SME Champion Councillors Doug 
Wilson and Gillian 
Troughton to share 
North and South

Ambition 1, 
2 and 4

50 Democracy and 
Engagement 
Champion

Councillor Andy Pratt Ambition 3 
and 4

P
age 201



51 Health and Wellbeing 
Champion

Portfolio Holder All 
ambitions

Local Trusts managed by the Council
52 Whitehaven Maternity 

Trust
Julie Betteridge Councillors Jeanette 

Forster, Mark Holliday 
& Carla Arrighi

Ambition 3 Endorses Previous 
Appointment

53 Pipers Educational 
Trust

Julie Betteridge Councillor Brian O’Kane Ambition 3 Endorses Previous 
Appointment

P
age 202



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 030419

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy Final Draft

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Holliday
Corporate Lead: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director

Summary and Recommendation

Cumbria County Council through its Director of Public Health, Colin Cox, and working with its 
wide range of public, community and private partners, has finalised a Cumbria Public Health 
Strategy in support of the Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Copeland Council through its leadership of the Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum, its 
engagement through the Cumbria Public Health Alliance and through the many links our 
officers have with health and wellbeing agendas and delivery has been actively engaged in 
feeding in to the development of this public health strategy.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to consider the draft strategy and 
comment.   Executive will be considering the Strategy at its 16th April 2019 meeting.

The strategy is based on tackling the wider determinants of health and has set out clearly 
through the draft the importance of the assets we have in Cumbria and Copeland, the 
progress measures in terms of impact on people, planet, participation, place and prosperity.   
All of these areas the Council has a strong role through both its statutory functions and its 
discretionary activities.   The life cycle foci of Starting Well, Living Well, Ageing Well and 
Dying Well is integrative with our district council role and responsibilities on wellbeing.  The 
table below offers a summary tool to assist OSC members with the role, strategies and 
initiatives. 

Initiatives and Foci CBC role and input Policies / Strategies CBC initiatives
Starting Well All services / 

safeguarding
Social Inclusion
Safeguarding
Housing Strategy
Copeland HWB 
Forum

 Working with 
Howgill Family 
Centre

 Domestic Abuse 
project

 Beacon
Living Well All services Corporate plan

Growth strategy
Housing strategy
Social Inclusion
Local Plan
Copeland HWB 
Forum
Environmental 
policy

 Housing / 
homelessness

 Hubs
 Social inclusion 

programme
 Benefit liaison
 Beacon
 Inclusive Growth  

Ageing Well All services Corporate plan  Social isolation

Page 203

Agenda Item 11



Housing strategy
Local Plan
Social Inclusion
Safeguarding
Copeland HWB 
Forum

 Older persons 
housing focus

 Hubs
 Social inclusion 

programme
 Benefit liaison
 Beacon
 Inclusive growth

CBC role and 
input

Policies / 
Strategies

CBC initiatives Opportunities

Determinants
Natural Assets Air and water 

quality
Coastline 
management
Economic 
development 
Local Plan
Partnership with 
LDNP
Access to green 
and blue space
Promotion 
biodiversity
Recycling priority 
– flytipping, 
waste and 
enforcement

Local Plan
Environmental 
Policy
Growth Strategy
Waste related 
policies

Tourism
Asset 
management 
plans
Coastal 
Challenge
Coastline 
Management 
plan
EH initiatives

Climate change 
focus 
New govt waste 
strategy
Coastal challenge

Human Assets Work and skills
Access to leisure
Engagement with 
arts and culture
Tackling 
discrimination 
and exploitation

Growth strategy
Work and skills 
plan
GLL Contract and 
annual business 
plan
Sports 
strategy/facilities 
audit
Safeguarding
Beacon Business 
Plan
Cultural Strategy
Social inclusion 
strategy

Work and skills 
partnership
GLL Partnership 
and projects
Social inclusion 
programme with 
grants
Domestic Abuse 
Project
Work with 
AWAZ
Beacon Museum 
VCS Liaison

Increase project 
ideas re cohesion
Via well 
whitehaven

Page 204



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

1

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: 

Tackling the Wider Determinants of 
Health and Wellbeing

Version Number FINAL DRAFT

Date 6 February 2019

Introduction.............................................................................................................................................................3

Strategic Context .................................................................................................................................................4

Model of the determinants of health and wellbeing ..........................................................................................5

The Current Position................................................................................................................................................6

Vision for a Healthier Cumbria ................................................................................................................................9

Planet: Growing our Natural Assets.......................................................................................................................10

Improving the quality of and access to green space .........................................................................................10

Promoting biodiversity and wildlife habitats ....................................................................................................10

Tackling climate change ....................................................................................................................................11

Air quality ..........................................................................................................................................................12

Waste reduction................................................................................................................................................12

People: Nurturing our Human Assets ....................................................................................................................14

Promoting education, skills and lifelong learning .............................................................................................14

Ensuring meaningful and high quality occupations for all ................................................................................15

Ensuring access to adequate leisure opportunities...........................................................................................15

Promoting engagement with arts and culture ..................................................................................................16

Tackling discrimination and exploitation...........................................................................................................16

Participation: Building Social Connections ............................................................................................................18

Building stronger communities .........................................................................................................................18

Promoting social inclusion.................................................................................................................................19

Building safer communities, including tackling crime and antisocial behaviour...............................................19

Place: Improving physical assets............................................................................................................................21

Promoting healthy town and country planning ................................................................................................21

Developing a sustainable travel and transport system .....................................................................................21

Ensuring high quality and safe housing .............................................................................................................22

Page 205



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

2

Access to healthy food ......................................................................................................................................23

Prosperity:  Fair and inclusive growth of our financial assets................................................................................25

Reducing income inequalities............................................................................................................................25

Promoting sustainable economic development................................................................................................25

Key Measures of Progress......................................................................................................................................27

Planet ................................................................................................................................................................27

People................................................................................................................................................................27

Participation ......................................................................................................................................................28

Place ..................................................................................................................................................................29

Prosperity ..........................................................................................................................................................30

Appendix 1: The Five Capitals Model.....................................................................................................................32

Page 206



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

3

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: 
Tackling the Wider Determinants of 
Health and Wellbeing
Introduction

This strategy has been developed by the Cumbria Public Health Alliance, which includes partners from across 
local government, the health service and the third sector. It describes the shared ambition of these partners to 
help bring about the environmental, social and economic conditions that can best support Cumbrian residents 
to enjoy a healthy and happy life. 

The aims outlined in this document are very ambitious, and achieving them is not simply a matter for  the 
partners who have signed up to the strategy. Many of the key themes are influenced significantly by national 
and even international economic and political forces, and by the action of individuals as well as a wide range of 
private sector organisations, so there is no guarantee that the aims set out in this document can be achieved. 
The strategy therefore reflects the aspirations of partners and a commitment to work towards these over the 
long term, and to encourage others to work towards them, within the constraints that all agencies face.

Moving towards achieving these aspirations will take concerted action at many levels, including work to 
influence national policy.  Some of this action will need to be taken at the level of the whole County, while 
other work will take place at a more local level: much of the implementation of the strategy depends on the 
work of District Councils.  Consequently this strategy will be supported by a range of action plans, developed 
and implemented at different levels, as follows:

Page 207



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

4

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Board

• Responsible for setting the overall Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Cumbria, of 
which this strategy is a core part.

• Formally recommends the Public Health Strategy to partner organisations.

Public Health 
Alliance

• Oversees the development and implementation of this strategy as a whole.
• Responsible for developing, monitoring and regularly reviewing the County-wide 
implementation plan.

Local HWB 
Fora

• Responsible for developing, monitoring and regularly reviewing implementation 
plans at District/Local Committee level.

• These plans will be formally owned by both District Councils and County Council 
Local Committees.

Individual 
Organisations

• Responsible for implementing specific actions within both the County and Local 
implementation plans.

Key to the implementation of this strategy will be the development of mechanisms for working together and 
for assessing how decisions that are being made influence the aims set out in this strategy. Some of these 
mechanisms, such as the Public Health Alliance and the Local Health and Wellbeing Fora, are in place already 
but will be refreshed to enable them to develop local action in support of the strategy. 

In setting all the aims within this strategy, all partners recognise that there are significant constraints currently 
facing us. These include the powers available to local organisations, and significantly challenged budgets 
particularly within local government and the NHS, with knock-on impacts on the third sector. Achieving these 
aims in this environment will be extremely challenging, but our commitment as partners to this strategy is to 
make the best use of the limited powers and resources available to work towards these aims.

Strategic Context

The Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-29  sets as its overarching vision: [Drafting Note: to be 
confirmed following consultation on that strategy]

“To enable Cumbrian communities to be healthy and to tackle health inequalities”

The factors that impact on people’s health and wellbeing are many and varied, and the strategies that are used 
to improve health and wellbeing therefore also need to be diverse and to address a number of different 
influences. Recognising this, the Health and Wellbeing Strategy identifies four key themes: [DN: to be 
confirmed following consultation on that strategy]

 Protecting the health of the population as a whole
 Improving health and wellbeing throughout the lifecourse

Page 208



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

5

 Tackling the wider determinants of health and wellbeing
 Providing high quality, person-centred care.

Obviously public health is ultimately about people; however public health action does not just focus on 
individuals, but on social, economic, environmental and structural issues, as these have direct and indirect 
impacts on health and wellbeing. Consequently the overall public health approach for Cumbria can be seen as 
having three main strands, connected to three of the four key themes of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Health protection remains a core part of the public health agenda and like all parts of public health 
has a significant multi-agency dimension. Screening and immunisations are commissioned by NHS 
England and delivered by local health services; communicable disease control involves significant joint 
efforts by the County Council public health team, District environmental health departments and 
Public Health England, among many others; and Emergency Planning and resilience is co-ordinated 
through the multi-agency Local Resilience Forum.

Over recent years, much public health activity has had an individual focus. The life course approach 
(starting well, developing well, living well, ageing well and dying well) is being used as a core 
component of the health and wellbeing frameworks for the two emerging Integrated Health and Care 
Partnerships in West, North and East Cumbria and Morecambe Bay. Action that focuses on working 
with individuals, for example in supporting them to stop smoking, eating a more healthy diet, reducing 
alcohol consumption and being more physically active, as well as individual support for mental 
wellbeing, is more fully outlined in these health and wellbeing frameworks.

However public health action is also required at a broader social, environmental and economic level. 
Variation in access to or quality of the wider determinants of health and wellbeing is the single biggest 
driver of health inequalities and influences an individual’s health behaviour.  

It is the third of these strands, creating the conditions in which individuals can have opportunities to be healthy 
and to take action in support of their own health and wellbeing, that is the focus of this strategy. In line with 
the timeframes for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, this strategy covers the period 2019 – 2029.  

Clearly these three main strands of work have inter-connections and overlaps; this is not a neat division. In 
particular, the wider determinants shape individual behaviour: diet, for example, is influenced both by 
individual factors such as attitudes and knowledge, and by social factors such as food availability, marketing 
and culture. This strategy therefore cannot stand alone as the way of improving health and wellbeing in 
Cumbria, but has to be seen alongside other plans that focus on working with individuals to influence mindsets 
and behaviours, as illustrated in Figure 1 overleaf.

Model of the determinants of health and wellbeing

This strategy is adapted from the “five capitals” model proposed by Forum for the Future as a framework for 
sustainable systems (see Appendix 1). Interpreted for the purposes of a public health strategy, this model 
suggests that a community is healthy and sustainable when it has:

Page 209



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

6

Natural assets: A high quality natural environment that provides opportunities for engagement with 
the natural world.

Human assets: People with the skills, knowledge, and experience that give them the capacity to take 
part in society and have meaningful and fulfilling lives.

Social assets: A good social infrastructure, with networks and institutions that allow people to connect 
to each other.

Physical assets: A good physical infrastructure including housing, transport, and a commercial 
environment that promotes healthy behaviours.

Financial assets: Adequate financial resources that are fairly distributed.

Page 210



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

7

FIGURE 1: DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING

A key feature of this model is that it emphasises the importance of building all five types of community assets 
without degrading any of them. It therefore sets a positive vision of building a better society in which everyone 
is able to maximise their potential for health and wellbeing. 

This can however be challenging in reality, as often there are actual or perceived competing demands. In 
particular, the requirement for increased housing or business infrastructure can compete with the desire to 
protect natural assets. So too can economic growth, which relies on all the other assets but can damage them if 
not thoughtfully and carefully pursued. This strategy therefore commits policy and decision makers to consider 
all these factors in the round when assessing proposals for action.

Key Commitment

We will ensure that our decision making takes full account of the environmental, social, human, 
physical and financial assets described in this strategy. We will endeavour to ensure that our decisions 
and actions grow these assets sustainably, and where that is not possible, we will attempt to offset 
any negative impact through action elsewhere, for the health and wellbeing of all Cumbria’s 
communities. 

Page 211



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

8

The Current Position

Clearly these various assets are not evenly distributed throughout our County. Many parts of Cumbria have a 
natural environment second to none; however some of our urban areas suffer from poor air quality. There are 
clear pockets of deprivation linked to low income and skills, particularly in some urban areas, whereas it is 
often our more rural areas that have difficulty accessing goods and services. Such differences in poverty, power 
and resources, exposure to health damaging environments, and opportunities in early life are the main drivers 
of health inequalities. Unhealthy behaviour such as smoking, inactivity, violence and poor diet is more common 
in communities that have less access to and control over these assets. 

The correlation between deprivation and health can clearly be illustrated by comparing the geography of 
multiple deprivation in Cumbria with the geography of health deprivation and disability, as shown in the maps 
below.

It is clear from the maps above that for many of the indicators that combine to create the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (particularly those focused on income, employment and skills), Cumbria’s most challenged areas 
are urban and more generally along the west coast of the county. However there are two important caveats to 
this statement. Firstly, the Index of Multiple Deprivation is more useful in looking at urban areas, where 
deprivation is more likely to be similar in any given location; in larger rural geographies there is more likely to 
be a mixture of relative deprivation and relative affluence leading to a more average score overall and 
potentially masking rural deprivation. Secondly, some of the indicators used tell a very different story: the 
maps below illustrate that for access to housing and services, and for the living environment domain (which is 

Page 212



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

9

dominated by indicators of housing quality including whether houses are centrally heated), it is Cumbria’s rural 
areas that face the greatest challenges. 

Page 213



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

10

This significant variation across Cumbria indicates that the priorities for tackling the wider determinants of 
poor health and wellbeing will necessarily be different in different parts of the county. While there are some 
actions that can and should be taken at a county-wide level, it will be particularly important to identify 
priorities and actions within the overall framework of this strategy at a District and even more local community 
level.

Page 214



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

11

Vision for a Healthier Cumbria

Building on the five capitals and taking inspiration from the World Health Organization’s Healthy Cities model, 
the future for a healthier Cumbria can be seen as having five key components:

Planet: Cumbria’s natural environment, from our world-class landscapes to the centre of our towns, 
will be protected and enhanced. Sustainability will be at the heart of future development and Cumbria 
will reduce its ecological footprint even as it develops economically.

People: Everyone in Cumbria will have the opportunity to develop and use their skills and talents in a 
way that recognises the value they bring to society and to enjoy a varied and fulfilling life.

Participation: Cumbrian communities will be strong, resilient and inclusive, with well-developed social 
networks and widespread engagement with community life.

Place: Cumbria’s physical infrastructure will promote health and wellbeing, with good quality housing, 
a high quality urban environment and good access to the services needed for a healthy lifestyle.

Prosperity: Cumbria’s economy will develop sustainably, with growth particularly focused on tackling 
poverty and providing quality employment for all.

Page 215



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

12

Planet: Growing our Natural Assets

The global ecosystem is not just the environment in which we live: it is the basis of our society and our 
economy. A range of natural resources such as land, water, air, timber and animals, and natural processes such 
as the water cycle and climate regulation, influence our health. But they have to be utilised sustainably in order 
to ensure that people can have a good quality of life today and to avoid damaging the prospects of future 
generations.

In the context of this public health strategy, the key aspects of our natural resources that need to be addressed 
are as follows:

 Improving the quality of and access to green space 
 Promoting biodiversity and wildlife habitats 
 Climate change 
 Air quality 
 Waste reduction

Improving the quality of and access to green space

Cumbria has a plethora of diverse green and blue spaces, from rugged high open fells, rolling farmland, 
woodland, coastal plains and beaches, with a variety of village, town and city parks, recreation grounds, 
community gardens, cemeteries and churchyards.  These spaces play a vital role in the in the health and 
wellbeing of local communities and provide valuable ecosystem services such as food, fuel and flood 
management. 

Green and blue space has many public health benefits. Often free to access, it promotes physical activity 
through providing a pleasant environment for walking, running, cycling and recreational activities, improving 
health and mental wellbeing. Urban green spaces provide pleasant areas to relax and socialise, promoting 
greater levels of social activity and stronger neighbourhood relationships. This can help in combatting isolation 
and loneliness.  Spending time in green spaces has been shown to produce levels and patterns of chemicals in 
the brain associated with low stress and positive impacts on blood pressure. 

Although Cumbria is rich in green and blue space it is vital to maintain and where necessary improve its quality, 
its distribution and access to it. Currently, some people are disadvantaged in terms of the benefits they can 
derive from it, either through financial circumstances, the area they live in or access to transport.

Key Aim
To protect and enhance Cumbria’s green and blue spaces, ensuring that everyone in the County has 
good access to a high quality natural environment.

Page 216



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

13

Promoting biodiversity and wildlife habitats

There is an increasing amount of evidence that connections with nature and other forms of life can have a 
significant beneficial impact on health and wellbeing. Consequently it is important for public health to plan 
positively for the creation, protection and enhancement of biodiversity and wildlife habitats.

We need to develop the core of a county-wide Nature Recovery Network, so we can plan for and encourage 
wildlife and habitats back into our towns, countryside and coastline through initiatives such as wildlife-friendly 
gardens, green roofs, tree planting, species-rich roadside verges and marine protection. This will enable 
habitats to spread, wildlife to flourish and increase the number of people who can benefit.   

One of the key areas for promoting and safeguarding biodiversity and wildlife habitats will be through 
engagement with the next generation of young people and children.  Cumbria will continue to develop its work 
with a wide spectrum of conservation and farming groups and the health sector to provide support for schools 
and community groups to make it easier to learn outdoors and to visit natural places through awards and 
initiatives run by those such as the John Muir Trust and Forest Schools.   

Key Aim

To promote Cumbria’s biodiversity through protection and enhancement of a wide variety of wildlife 
habitats.

Tackling climate change 

Climate change is already a threat to Cumbria, and in the long term is one of the greatest threats to public 
health globally.  Within Cumbria, climate change is likely to have a range of impacts.  We can expect to see 
wetter winters, hotter, drier summers, rising sea levels and a greater likelihood of extreme weather events.  
The severe floods of 2005, 2009 and Storm Desmond in 2015 were consistent with predictions for climate 
change and caused significant disruption and damage.  In 2010, the north west experienced its driest January 
to June since 1929, resulting in low reservoir levels and hosepipe bans across north west England, affecting six 
million consumers.   These extreme weather events can present an immediate threat to life, property and 
health and can also have a long term physical, emotional and financial impact on lives, with significant health 
consequences.

Obviously Cumbria cannot tackle climate change alone – this is a global problem.  However it is important for 
us to take action locally both to reduce our contribution to the problem and to mitigate the inevitable impacts.  
In 2010 the Lake District National Park was one of the first areas to set itself a local carbon budget and to 
monitor annual reductions – something that could be valuably adopted in the whole of Cumbria. The 2018 
report of the International Panel on Climate Change recommended that in order to limit global climate change 
to 1.5oC  the world should reduce net carbon emissions by 45% by 2030 and be carbon neutral by 2050. There 
is no reason why Cumbria should be exempt from timescales of this sort – and indeed why we should not seek 
to go further, faster.

Page 217



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

14

The health of Cumbria’s green space and its associated biodiversity and wildlife habitats will help to build 
resilience to counter the extreme weather associated with climate change.  There is an opportunity to do more 
on green and blue space infrastructure through the local planning system, including providing urban cooling, 
local flood risk management, carbon sequestration and local access to shady outdoor space through planting 
more trees.

Key Aim
To become a “carbon neutral” County and to mitigate the likely impact of existing climate change.

Air quality

The impact on health of poor air quality can be significant and goes beyond respiratory health.  People 
who live in poorer areas are often exposed to higher levels of air pollution and may suffer greater 
negative impacts.  As a mainly rural county, Cumbria is generally favoured with very good air quality: 
the proportion of mortality attributable to particulate matter air pollution in Cumbria is 3.82%, lower 
than the national figure of 4.72%. Only Carlisle and South Lakeland have declared any Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs).  These are places where national air quality objectives are not likely to 
be achieved.  Those in Cumbria have all been declared as a consequence of raised levels of nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2), primarily due to emissions from road transport. 

However, several other areas in Cumbria have levels of air pollution approaching threshold levels and 
there are concerns that levels may be rising, with the popularity of biomass boilers, wood-burning 
stoves and solid fuel use in rural, off-grid areas.  For PM2.5 (particulate of less than 2.5 microns) in 
particular, there is no safe level and it has been estimated that in 2010 the deaths of 195 people in 
Cumbria were attributable to PM2.5.

Action to address the causes and mitigate the consequences of air pollution needs to be taken at all levels of 
society from Government through to the individual, and these actions will vary depending on the most 
important influences over air quality at a local level.  There is often a tension between a desire for good air 
quality and economic development objectives, which can also improve health. Major new housing projects, 
industrial and commercial developments and roads can all impact on air quality either through direct emissions 
or through increasing traffic levels.  

Improving air quality requires both large systemic changes to reduce industrial emissions and traffic and to 
encourage the use of less polluting vehicles, and action at community level to change behaviours.  Where local 
people have been part of decisions made about interventions, they are more likely to be engaged and thus 
change their behaviour.  Communities that better understand air pollution can become powerful advocates for 
action and improvement in their local area.

Key Aim
To improve air quality in Cumbria through action on transport, industrial, agricultural and domestic 
emissions. 

Page 218



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

15

Prevention

Preparing for reuse

Recycling

 Other recovery

Disposal

O
rd

er
 o

f 
pr

ef
er

en
ce

Waste reduction

Cumbrians produce almost 250,000 tonnes of rubbish every year. 
Reducing the amount of waste generated not only reduces the 
environmental impact and financial burden to local authorities, but 
often leads to increased household disposable income, healthier 
dietary habits and improved well-being.  Cumbria generates 50,000 
tonnes of garden waste, much of which could be composted at home, 
encouraging physical activity and fresh air.  An equivalent of £50 of 
food is thrown away per household each month.  Better portion 
planning can reduce waste and reduce grocery bills, freeing up money 
to spend on activities that promote health and well-being.  

Key Aim
To reduce the amount of waste produced in Cumbria through reduced material use, promoting 
greater product re-use, and improving recycling rates. 

Page 219



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

16

People: Nurturing our Human Assets

The assets within our communities relate to the people’s skills, knowledge and experience the things they draw 
on every day in living and contributing to society.  This includes their capacity for things like empathy, passion 
and joy and also their intellectual output such as art and other cultural expressions.  We can nurture our 
human assets by:

 Promoting education, skills and lifelong learning
 Ensuring meaningful and high quality occupations for all
 Ensuring access to adequate leisure opportunities
 Promoting engagement with arts and culture
 Tackling discrimination and exploitation

Promoting education, skills and lifelong learning

There is a direct correlation between the areas of the County with the lowest educational attainment and skills 
levels, unemployment and poor health. Supporting people to access employment through action to improve 
skills is therefore a critical part of this strategy.  In addition, lifelong learning has health benefits that go beyond 
the impact on employment: learning for its own sake is positive for mental wellbeing.

Improving the skills of the population to enable employers and the economy to access the workforce they 
require, both through education and through adult skills training and re-skilling, will be a critical part of the 
people strand of the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), but will also play a major part in the other strands.

Cumbria faces a number of challenges in this area:

 There is a small pool of residents with graduate level qualifications, who are spread across separate labour 
markets;

 The percent of population with no qualifications, at 15.3% is higher than the national average, with areas of 
the coastal belt as high as 17.6%;

 Very strong apprenticeship performance, however there are emerging challenges in maintaining this, 
mirroring the national reduction in starts.

In developing the skills aspect of the Local Industrial Strategy, the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has 
developed a series of sector skills plans outlining the skills challenges and shared areas for development in: 
Advanced Manufacturing; Nuclear; Health and Care; Construction; Logistics; Visitor Economy; Rural; 
Professional Services; Cultural and Creative Industries.  The LEP has now established with partners a Careers 
Strategy for Cumbria that will drive improvements in education and business links, enthusing our young people 
about the opportunities available in Cumbria and enhancing examples of high quality partnership work 
between employers and education institutions.  This approach will ensure that young people are encouraged to 
aspire from an early age and have a clear view of the careers available to them, so that they can plan their 
education accordingly.  This approach when tested elsewhere delivered a significant improvement in 
attainment.

Page 220



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

17

Work will be undertaken with education and training partners to develop an extended curriculum that both 
meets the needs of industry and the needs of residents, ensuring that there is choice available and a range of 
support to ensure that those who find accessing skills provision difficult are able to do so, securing the inclusive 
growth aspiration within the LIS. 

Key Aim 
To reduce disparities in educational attainment and to increase the proportion of the workforce with 
higher level skills and qualifications.

Ensuring meaningful and high quality occupations for all

An occupation that gives life a sense of purpose and value is an essential part of positive wellbeing. For many 
people this will of course come in the form of employment, which also brings the economic resources 
necessary for good health.  However other forms of occupation, such as volunteering or bringing up a family, 
can be just as powerful for improved wellbeing and should not be ignored as a way of bringing this purpose and 
value to life. 

In general, having a job is better for health than not having one, but poor quality jobs can be damaging to 
health.  High quality employment will provide people with security, a good sense of job control and a 
reasonable balance between the effort they have to put in and the reward (financial or otherwise) that they get 
in return.  Where these factors are not present, health is more likely to suffer. 

It is recognised that currently not everybody is benefitting from Cumbria’s economic prosperity with the 
wealthiest parts of the county not being those with the highest earnings and those areas with the highest 
weekly earnings experience higher rates of unemployment, deprivation, low skills and poor health.  Equally, 
there is a gap in high quality, flexible/part time jobs that allow people to transition back into work around 
bringing up a family, or other caring responsibilities.

The Local Industrial Strategy has therefore identified the need to tackle worklessness and under employment 
with a more coherent employability and social cohesion offer. This will be a co-ordinated multi-agency 
programme delivered at a local and potentially community-level, based on experiences gained in tackling inter-
generational worklessness in other areas. This approach could bring around 4,500 people back into the 
workforce, helping to address labour supply issues and improve people’s quality of life and wellbeing.

Key Aim 
To ensure that everyone in Cumbria has the opportunity for high quality employment or other 
meaningful activity as part of their daily life.

Ensuring access to adequate leisure opportunities

People’s leisure helps shape their mental and physical health.  The health benefits include opportunities to be 
active, through sport and other physical activities, but also to be creative and to engage with friends, which can 
promote mental well-being.  Not only are hobbies fun, but they can refresh the mind and body and assist one 

Page 221



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

18

in improving self-esteem, staying healthy, active and happy.  Taking part in leisure activities as a family is also 
beneficial for children because the process helps to model healthy ways to handle stress and emotions.  
Participating in leisure activities regularly reduces depression: in fact, just thinking about past outdoor 
recreation experiences can often improve one’s mood.

Leisure is often referred to as “free time”, because leisure time is free from compulsory activities such as 
employment, running a business, household chores, education and other such day-to-day activities.  People 
need both enough time for leisure and access to a range of leisure opportunities, whether formal or informal.   
Leisure provides people with the chance to find balance in their life, it also puts them in control of how they 
spend their time.  People on low incomes are likely to have less control over their free time, have less access to 
recreational space and have less disposable income to spend on leisure. 

Key Aim 
To ensure that all communities in Cumbria have good access to a wide range of leisure opportunities, 
including promoting improved availability and affordability of leisure options.

Promoting engagement with arts and culture

It is widely recognised that experiencing arts and culture can create a sense of wellbeing and transform quality 
of life for individuals and communities.  The report Creative Health: the Arts for Health and Wellbeing, 
prepared by The All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) for arts, health and wellbeing, details various ways in 
which the arts can enable people to enjoy better health and quality of life. It sets out the significant 
contribution that arts and culture can make to keeping people and communities healthy and happy: that arts 
engagement can improve mental health, help with the management of long term health conditions, promote 
healthy ageing, tackle health inequalities and begin to address obesity. It makes a powerful case for the arts 
and culture to contribute to the wider health and social care agenda helping people to live healthier lives.

Cumbria has a rich, diverse cultural and arts offer: a ‘cultural landscape’ shaped by the area and its arts and 
cultural heritage.  People take part in everyday creativity like music, drawing, painting, film making, 
photography, pottery, singing and crafts.  Many attend cultural events in community spaces, theatres, galleries, 
heritage sites, libraries, museums, venues, at outdoor locations and in our world heritage sited and spectacular 
landscapes.  However it is recognised there are inequalities in the level of cultural and arts engagement and 
participation across Cumbria.  For some residents access to the arts is limited by age, transport, rurality, 
disability or low income.  Our ambition is for Cumbria to be a county that is recognised for the part played in 
making the arts and culture central to the health and wellbeing of its communities, and to promote awareness 
of the range and quality of opportunities that exist for people to be creative, to participate and enjoy the arts 
and culture. 

Key Aim 
To encourage a wide range of high quality opportunities to participate in and engage with the arts and 
culture, and to enable great art and culture for everyone so that participation and engagement in the 
arts is not dependent on where people live or their social, educational or financial circumstances.

Page 222



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

19

Tackling discrimination and exploitation

Discrimination is when a person is treated worse than another person on account of an aspect of their identity.  
Discrimination can take place at work, in the community, when travelling, when accessing public services, or as 
a consumer.  Groups with a history of discrimination will often be disproportionately affected by poorer 
educational, health and employment outcomes, more likely to be in the children care system and later in the 
criminal justice system and are likely to have less voice in local democracy.

Many people who have experienced discrimination will have been victims of harassment, victimisation or a 
hate crime.  In the wake of the MeToo movement there has been a greater spotlight on sexual harassment and 
its damaging impact.  Hate crimes are any offence where the victim perceives themselves to have been 
targeted on the grounds of their identity. In Cumbria there are over 300 reported hate incidents per year.  Over 
60% of all hate crimes in Cumbria are racist, reflecting the national trend, but there are a number of disablist, 
homophobic and transphobic hate crimes. 

Domestic abuse has an overwhelming impact on women and girls and the sexist element of the violence and 
coercion needs to be treated on a par with the racist and homophobic elements in hate crime.

Exploitation in the forms of human trafficking, modern slavery and child sexual exploitation are growing 
concerns across the country as a whole and Cumbria is not immune to this trend.  The agriculture and 
hospitality sectors are, nationally, key focal points for modern slavery and with these playing such a large part 
in the Cumbrian economy it would be naïve to think that it could not happen here. 

Cumbria faces some key challenges in tackling discrimination and exploitation, including:

 Sex: Reducing number of women who are victims of domestic abuse; reducing numbers of women who are 
given custodial sentences; reducing occupational gender segregation so more women go into male 
dominated jobs and vice versa; reducing the gender pay gap; greater participation in physical activity 
compared to males; raising awareness of sexual harassment; support to community level women’s groups 
to have a greater voice in public life, including female political representation.

 Transgender: Developing a socially inclusive approach that supports people identifying as transgender in 
education, employment and community life; working regionally to increase access to NHS services for 
people seeking medically to undergo gender reassignment.

 Race: Successful community integration, reduction in hate crime, effective access to English language 
support and culturally responsive public services.

 Disability: Greater accessibility in terms of transport, buildings, infrastructure and countryside; employers 
understanding reasonable adjustments; monitoring impact of welfare reforms on disabled claimants; 
raising awareness of disability hate crime.  

 Sexual orientation: Helping to develop a vibrant LGB community through Cumbria Pride and other local 
activities; using the Stonewall national employer champions standard to promote LGB equality at work; 
support health and social care to consider aging well for people in same sex relationships. 

Key Aim 
To promote equality and diversity within Cumbria, to reduce people’s experiences of discrimination, 
and to identify and tackle instances of exploitation within the County.

Page 223



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

20

Page 224



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

21

Participation: Building Social Connections

Social capital refers to the connections between people and to the various groups, institutions and social norms 
that help to create, foster and regulate these connections.  This can include informal social networks involving 
family and friends, voluntary and community organisations and more formal institutions such as workplaces, 
trade unions, faith groups and governmental organisations.  It also includes cultural norms – shared 
expectations about how society works – that are often unspoken but are critical to whether people trust each 
other and work well together.

Key aspects of social capital for this public health strategy are as follows:

 Building stronger communities
 Promoting social inclusion
 Building safer communities, including tackling crime and antisocial behaviour

Building stronger communities

Communities with strong informal networks and high levels of trust between individuals are believed to be 
more resilient and local people have less need to make use of formal support services because neighbours keep 
an eye out for each other and informal community organisations provide local social activities and services.

Cumbria is often described as having strong communities and this is reflected in the fact that areas of Cumbria 
frequently feature in national reports of the “best” areas to live in the UK.  There are many examples of 
Cumbria’s communities developing their own activities and services– community transport schemes, sports 
clubs, library books in community pubs and good neighbour schemes – enabling individuals to connect with 
other people and access the services they need.  Strong communities support a healthy democracy, 
encouraging people to take an interest in their local area and help to shape public services to meet local need.

However, even the strongest communities sometimes benefit from access to support and advice (for 
example, on how to access funding for community activities).  Equally, areas where levels of social 
capital are not already high, for example where there is significant turnover of population, need 
additional support to develop it, often over a number of years. 

Community Development staff, local infrastructure organisations and local funders all play an important 
background role in enabling Cumbria’s communities to organise and flourish. Communities of interest also play 
an important role in building social capital.  People often seek support from people with similar interests (for 
example, through sports clubs), at a similar life stage (groups for new parents) or similar beliefs (faith groups).

Links between different communities, for example across geographies, age groups or cultural groups, help to 
develop understanding and build tolerance and community cohesion.

Page 225



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

22

Cumbria’s new Local Industrial Strategy also recognises the role of community as vital to achieving its ambition 
of creating an inclusive economy.  The Strategy builds upon the idea that for people to be healthy and to be 
successful they need to feel a part of an established and integrated community. 

Key Aim 
To support communities to thrive, with a strong and diverse informal and third sector, good levels of 
community participation, and a sense of having control and influence over the factors that matter 
most to them.

Promoting social inclusion

Where individuals or groups find themselves isolated, whether because of factors such as geographic distance 
or because of things like language barriers or competing social norms, the impact on health can be significant.  
Loneliness has been identified as a significant public health issue, with some studies suggesting that the size of 
the impact could be similar to smoking 15 cigarettes a day.

Social isolation can arise out of major life changes that remove a person’s access to their friends, family, 
communities and colleagues.  This can include family breakdown, bereavement, being taken into care (as a 
child or later in life) or losing a job or becoming homeless. Low levels of geographic mobility in Cumbria can 
mean that people coming into the area may struggle to make social connections and build a friendship 
network, while other people who may feel they ‘do not fit in’ could feel particular effects of exclusion that 
would not be the case in more urban areas. 

Structural changes to the way we live can also feed social isolation.  With people more likely to live in single 
households or dispersed families, as well as greater online forms of interpersonal contact, it is increasingly 
possible for people to have few friends or people they can rely on in an emergency.  This can have implications 
for emotional health and wellbeing, resilience in the face of adverse events and greater sense of insecurity. 
Digitalisation also brings other vulnerabilities such as cyber-crime, online harassment and trolling, which can 
particularly impact on people who are already isolated.  On the other hand social media enables connections.

Certain demographic sections of the population are particularly vulnerable to isolation – LGBT people in some 
rural areas, women above 50 (especially where they are economically inactive, live alone, no longer have 
children in the household), young males with mental health conditions, care leavers, older people in single 
person households, BME people who have moved to Cumbria and have limited access to local groups from a 
similar ethnic heritage, disabled people who experience barriers to access to work, education, transport or 
social access, people with learning disabilities who are more likely to be single and report loneliness.

Key Aim 
To tackle loneliness and social isolation by providing opportunities to help build social connections and 
engagement particularly for those identified as most vulnerable. 

Page 226



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

23

Building safer communities, including tackling crime and antisocial 
behaviour

Feeling safe is a bedrock of good health, to the extent that the fear of crime has a bigger impact on health than 
the actual risk of being a victim of crime.  How safe we feel at home, at work and in our neighbourhood can 
influence our social habits.  Home (and work) is where we might spend a large amount of time so it is 
important to feel safe and secure there.  Feeling part of the community in which we live is also just as 
important and can add to our feeling of stability.  When we feel safe, we find it easier to relax and do all the 
things that comfort us.  If we are feeling unsafe then we may also feel anxious, depressed or frightened, which 
can have a direct impact on our health.  It can also have an indirect impact whereby we change our behaviour 
because we are concerned for our safety.  This shows that feeling safe is of paramount importance to our 
wellbeing and our health.

Cumbria remains one of the safest places to live in England and Wales and feelings of safety are generally high.  
Cumbria Constabulary is recognised by Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) as a good performing force and for keeping people safe.

However, Cumbria is witnessing an increase in levels of organised crime and the misery this brings on 
communities through drugs, violence and the exploitation of the vulnerable.  In addition, rural isolation 
presents challenges in identifying vulnerable victims of domestic and sexual abuse.  Technology is also changing 
how the public interacts with the world and each other, changing culture and expectations and criminal use of 
the internet. 

The development of local community based hubs brings together several partner organisations, including the 
police and District Councils, to combine resources and expertise, to strengthen capacity and build a strong, 
secure, effective infrastructure to deal with community problems at a local level, increasing public confidence 
and feelings of safety.

Key Aim 
To reduce crime and antisocial behaviour and to ensure that people in Cumbria retain low levels of 
fear of crime across the whole County.

 

Page 227



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

24

Place: Improving physical assets

It is important that we develop our physical assets (houses, buildings, transport ) in a way that is sustainable, 
minimising the use of natural resources and maximising the use of human skills and ingenuity.  The key assets 
of place for this strategy are as follows:

 Promoting healthy town and country planning
 Developing a sustainable transport system
 Ensuring high quality and safe housing
 Access to healthy food

Promoting healthy town and country planning

The planning system has a very significant impact on the built environment in which people live and work.  It 
can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive communities.  
Planning functions are an important lever to shape the natural and built environment, which can contribute to 
positive health outcomes through green spaces, housing, transport and our high streets and town centres – not 
forgetting public health protection – air, noise and light pollution.  Promoting healthy and safe communities is a 
requirement of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which further states that planning 
policies and decisions should aim to achieve “healthy, inclusive and safe places”.  It is therefore critical that the 
planning system is active in working towards improving health and wellbeing as a key priority.

In Cumbria, the six District Councils and the National Parks are the main planning authorities, with the County 
Council being the lead for infrastructure planning, highways, minerals and waste and flood and development 
management.  Partnership working across tiers and organisations is therefore key to influencing and designing 
healthy infrastructure.  

With multiple planning authorities in Cumbria, inevitably there are several different approaches to building 
health into planning objectives.  As part of the World Health Organization Healthy Cities Network, Carlisle has 
included health as an explicit feature within their adopted local plan via a strategic policy on ‘Healthy and 
thriving communities’.  Other Districts have adopted specific policies with positive health benefits via 
environmental or housing policy.  The opportunity exists to take a joint approach to maximising the health 
benefits of the planning system.

Key Aim 
To ensure that planning authorities across Cumbria develop and implement policy in support of this 
strategy, including focusing on active transport, green space, quality housing, availability of healthy 
food, carbon reduction and creation of employment opportunities. 

Developing a sustainable travel and transport system

Page 228



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

25

The transport system is critical to enabling people to access goods and services that are important for health 
and wellbeing, to encouraging physical activity through promoting regular walking or cycling and to tackling 
climate change and improving air quality. 

Cumbria is a large rural county with many settlements that are not large enough to sustain a wide variety of 
services.  Many people therefore have to travel significant distances to access services.  For those with a car 
this may not prove too problematic.  At the time of the 2011 Census, 21.4% of households in Cumbria did not 
have access to a car, a lower rate than the average for England (25.8%). However those without access to a car 
(particularly the young, the old and those who cannot afford one) and who therefore rely on public transport, 
can face significant challenges. 

The Local Industrial Strategy highlights the impacts of Cumbria’s aging public transport which is insufficient to 
meet the population’s needs.  Poor rail connections, particularly from coastal towns and a reduction in bus 
services, particularly in rural areas can lead to social isolation and worklessness.

Communities risk isolation if they do not have passenger transport that is:

Available: the passenger transport network should be within easy reach of where people live and take 
them to and from the places they want to go at times and frequencies that correspond to patterns of 
social and working life. People also need to be kept informed of the services that are available;

Accessible: vehicles, stops and interchanges (and the walking routes to and from these) must be 
designed in such a way that, as far as possible, anyone can use them without difficulty;

Affordable: people should not be 'priced out' of using passenger transport because of high fares and 
should be able to easily find the right ticket for them;

Acceptable: people should feel that passenger transport is something that is equipped to meet their 
needs as well as comfortable, safe and convenient.

The physical transport infrastructure in Cumbria (in 
common with the rest of the country) remains very 
focused on cars, at the expense of more active 
forms of transport such as walking and cycling.

To promote health and a more sustainable 
environment, the well-known road user hierarchy 
(right) needs to move from rhetoric to reality. In 
addition, there is a need to encourage a greater 
uptake of new electric and other alternative fuel 
vehicles in order to reduce transport emissions, 
improving air quality and helping to tackle climate 
change. 

Page 229



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

26

Key Aim 
To develop the physical transport infrastructure to make it low carbon and more active, including 
making Cumbria a great place to walk, cycle, and use electric vehicles, and to ensure that the public 
transport system in Cumbria provides a viable alternative to car ownership, particularly for the most 
rural communities.

Ensuring high quality and safe housing

In Cumbria the median house price is just under £145,000, well below the national average of £186,000.  
However, in certain parts of the County, such as the Lake District, prices far exceed the national average and 
affordability is a major problem – house prices can be more than ten times local incomes.  However, the 
County also contains large areas (mainly urban) of deprivation.  In response there has been significant activity 
around housing to ensure that all people have access to affordable, safe and modern standard of housing 
which supports a healthy lifestyle. The local industrial strategy reports that in all six districts house building is 
above Cumbria’s required level. 

The Cumbria Housing Group has identified three priorities for improved housing across Cumbria:

Priority 1 - Housing Growth, Affordability and Community Sustainability. Housing is a cornerstone of 
Cumbria’s economic ambitions. Investment and growth will bring many more people into the County and this 
means that affordable housing, including in the social rental sector, is needed for employees and to enable 
young people to take up jobs locally.  It also means that high quality market housing is needed to attract skilled 
people to come and work in Cumbria, generating wealth and spending to sustain and develop our local services 
and town centres. 

Priority 2 - Housing Regeneration: Regenerating our poorest housing and town centres will improve the quality 
of housing and increase choice and demand in these areas.  We want to bring empty homes back into 
beneficial use, improve the energy efficiency of homes and improve standards in the private rental market.  We 
also want mechanisms established to ensure that second homes/holiday homes do not dominate local housing 
markets to help sustain our communities, particularly in rural areas. 

Priority 3 - Supporting Independent Living. Poor quality neighbourhoods and housing conditions and at its 
extreme, homelessness, can contribute to a range of health conditions.  These all have a long-term impact on 
particularly vulnerable people, with consequential impacts for acute hospital services, adult social care and 
children and young people’s life chances and employment prospects because of the effect on learning and 
education.  It is therefore crucial to deliver better-designed housing that can be easily adapted to meet the life 
changes of occupiers to enable them to live independently.  

Key Aim 
To improve the housing stock across Cumbria, ensuring that everyone has access to safe, warm, 
affordable housing, and that new housing supports wider aims including carbon reduction, climate 
change resilience, energy security, and adaptability.

Page 230



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

27

Access to healthy food

The food system is a vast and complex global infrastructure and the choices that people make are 
heavily influenced by availability, price, advertising and many other factors besides taste preference.  
One in four children starting school in Cumbria are not a healthy weight.  However, more children 
from deprived areas are overweight or obese and the differences between low income and high 
income areas is growing every year.  

Dietary habits are changing across Cumbria, mirroring national and global trends.  Many households 
have two working parents and due to time pressure, stress, lack of control over working times and 
greater availability and affordability of fast food, children are eating less home cooked food.  Meals 
eaten outside the home tend to be associated with higher intake of sugar, salt, fat and salt and 
portion size tends to be bigger.

Ensuring good access to healthy food, healthy food production locally, supported by a range of 
community food activities is vital in creating healthy places.  Several parts of Cumbria are advancing 
work around the food agenda through healthy options awards, allotments and community food 
projects. 

Exposure to marketing of high fat, high sugar processed food influences children’s preferences and 
eating habits. Children who engage with food brands online are more likely to consume unhealthy 
food.  Children and young people that have more screen time, are more likely to be exposed to food 
advertising through you tube adds, vlogs and online games.
 

Key Aim 
To promote a vibrant and diverse food economy, with local communities having access to a range of 
healthy and affordable food options, and to reduce waste and the ecological footprint of the local 
food system. 

Page 231



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

28

Prosperity:  Fair and inclusive growth of our financial assets

Financial growth and the distribution of financial assets is most commonly considered and pursued as a goal of 
social and economic policy.  There is a strong association between wealth and health, with more affluent 
people experiencing greater control over their life, greater life opportunities, less exposure to health damaging 
environments and greater healthy life expectancy.  Societies with a large difference in wealth between 
communities have poorer health overall.  Therefore reducing wealth inequalities improves the health of all 
members of society.  For the purposes of this public health strategy, the key aspects of financial capital are as 
follows:

 Reducing income inequalities
 Promoting sustainable economic development

Reducing income inequalities

Because wealth and health are so inexorably linked, tackling health inequalities is dependent on reducing 
income inequalities.  For Cumbria, the focus is on lifting incomes at the bottom of the income scale – ‘levelling 
up’ – rather than by redistribution from the most affluent, which is mostly outside the powers of Cumbrian 
agencies.

Results can be achieved through a two-pronged approach.  The first is to alleviate short term issues causing 
poverty and the second is to focus on the longer term issues that restrict life chances.

Some of challenges around alleviation are linked to low income households. These include changes to benefits, 
stagnant wages, a culture of low aspiration and a lack of joined up advice services which are easily accessible. 
There are also challenges around consumer culture and society’s need for new and more expensive, fashionable 
products that put more pressure on incomes. In rural areas, there are additional costs relating to transportation 
and fuel poverty, which eat into household budgets. It is therefore important that public services working with 
people on low incomes offer advice and support on financial management.

In the longer term, it is crucial that the education, skills and employment agenda is focused on supporting 
people from low income households.  This includes provision of high quality child care in areas of multiple 
deprivation, reducing the disadvantage gap for pre-school and at key stages up to GCSE, increasing the number 
of people from low income backgrounds into further and higher education and increasing opportunities for 
people from low income backgrounds to benefit from the wide range of training available.  

The role of the skills system is also vital in addressing the skills gap for people of working age and in terms of 
providing opportunities for older people who wish to stay economically active.

Key Aim 
To reduce levels of poverty and income insecurity through support to vulnerable groups and a focus 
on supporting people into high quality employment.

Page 232



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

29

Promoting sustainable economic development

When it has the right focus, economic development can be the key to unlocking several of the other themes of 
this strategy and can bring significant public health improvements.  Good economic development will focus on 
benefiting existing residents, particularly those with low quality and/or low paid jobs, through creation of jobs 
matched to local skills and through up-skilling local residents to take on the available jobs.  Economic 
development that seeks mainly to attract existing affluent populations to move into the County may boost 
economic statistics, but it will do so alongside widening inequalities within the County. 

In Cumbria, the main focus for sustainable 
economic development is the Local 
Industrial Strategy. This is built on two key 
platforms: 

 Inclusive Growth: Prosperity for All
 Productivity: Improving all sectors and 

reducing West/East disparities.

However, Cumbria faces a number of 
challenges in achieving these goals. 
Productivity in Cumbria is below average 
across most sectors.  As described in the 
chapter on skills, we have a small pool of 
residents with graduate level qualifications and a high proportion of people with no qualifications.  Crucially, 
we have a declining working age population, with a net outward migration of 18-24 year olds. 

Key Aim 
To ensure that economic development supports health and wellbeing and tackles inequalities by 
focusing opportunities on the most disadvantaged parts of Cumbria.

Page 233



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

30

Key Measures of Progress

[DN – still being developed, further work required]

Planet

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/
comparator

Green Space Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health 
reasons

County PHOF Indicator 1.16

Mar 2015 – Feb 2016

15.8% 17.9%

Biodiversity

Climate Change Net Carbon emissions New indicator to be 
developed

Baseline to be 
established

Air Quality Combined Air Quality Index LSOA IMD Living Environment 
domain: Air Quality 
Indicator.  NOT 
REGULARLY UPDATED.

n/a n/a

Air pollution: fine particulate matter District/County PHOF Annual

2016

5.8 mean 

µg/m3

9.3 mean 
µg/m3

Waste

People

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

P
age 234



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

31

Education, skills 
& lifelong 
learning 

An increase in the proportion of people in 
Cumbria aged 16-64 years with skill level 2 or 
above (CPDP measure M3.3)

County/district Annual Population 
Survey

Annual

Jan ’17 – Dec ‘17

75%

An increase in Apprenticeship starts delivered in 
Cumbria (CPDP measure M3.4)

County CCC Annual – academic year TBC

Meaningful 
Occupations

An increase in the employment rate of 16-64 
year olds (CPDP measure M3.1)

County/district Annual Population 
Survey

Annual 

Jan ‘17 – Dec ‘17

78.1%

The proportion of 16-17 year olds Not in 
Employment, Education and Training to be 
3.75% or lower for 2018/19 (CPDP measure 
M2.6)

County/district Inspira Quarterly 

March 2018

3.8% 5.6%

% of people who are on permanent contracts 
(or on temporary contracts and not seeking 
permanent employment), who earn more than 
2/3 of the UK median wage, and are not 
overworked (i.e. <49 hours a week), or 
underworked (unwillingly working part-time)

County Labour Force 
Survey/Thriving 
Places Index

Access to Leisure

Arts and Culture

Discrimination 
and Exploitation

Hate crime statistics available from Cumbria 
Constabulary (Crime & Community Safety 
Strategic Assessment).  Annual.

Participation

P
age 235



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

32

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Stronger 
communities

Indices of Deprivation – overall deprivation LSOA IMD NOT REGULARLY 
UPDATED

n/a n/a

Social inclusion Social isolation: proportion of Adult Social Care 
users who have as much social contact as they 
would like

County PHOF/Adult Social 
Care Survey

Annual

2017/18

51.4% 46.0%

Barriers to Housing and Services/Geographical 
Barriers to Services

LSOA IMD NOT REGULARLY 
UPDATED

n/a n/a

Safer 
Communities

Levels of crime (Total Crime) County/district CCC/Cumbria 
Constabulary

Annual

2016/17

25,428 

51.1 per 1,000

74.6 per 
1,000

Levels of Anti-Social Behaviour County/district CCC/Cumbria 
Constabulary

Annual

2016/17

12,291

24.7 per 1,000

How safe do people feel? (check if still available) County Cumbria 
Constabulary

Annual? TBC TBC

Place

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Healthy Planning

P
age 236



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

33

Sustainable 
Transport System

Journey Time statistics: access to services – 
public transport/walking

County/district DfT 2014 24 minutes 17 minutes

Journey Time statistics: access to services – 
cycling

County/district DfT 2014 19 minutes 14 minutes

Percentage of adults walking for travel at least 3 
days per week

County Active Lives Survey/

Sport England

Annual

2016/17

18.1% 22.9%

Percentage of adults cycling for travel at least 3 
days per week

County Active Lives Survey/

Sport England

Annual

2016/17

2.4% 3.3%

% of CCC maintained road incorporating cycle 
lanes

CCC

High quality and 
safe housing

Proportion of social and private housing in poor 
condition (Living Environment domain: housing 
in poor condition; houses without central 
heating)

IMD NOT regularly updated n/a n/a

Affordability of home ownership 

(Housing affordability)

County/district PHOF

(Paycheck)

Annual

2017

5.5 ratio 7.9 ratio

% Households in Fuel Poverty LSOA Gov.uk/DBEIS Annual

2016

12.2% 11.1%

Homelessness - eligible County/district Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local 
Government 

Quarterly – Jan-Mar 18 44 Homelessnes
s - eligible

Access to healthy 
food

Healthy Foods – Density of fast food outlets District PHE Annual (not sure when it 
will be 
refreshed/updated)

Allerdale, 98 
outlets (100.9 per 

P
age 237



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

34

100,000 
population) 

Barrow-in-Furness, 
84 (124.4 per 
100,000)

Carlisle, 105 (96.9 
per 100,000)

Copeland, 69 (99.6 
per 100,000)

Eden, 51 (96.9 per 
100,000)

South Lakeland, 
111 (106.9 per 
100,000)

Prosperity

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Fair and 
inclusive growth

Workless households (part of “Inclusive growth” 
indicators in LIS)

County/district Office for National 
Statistics

25,000 
(15.3%)

England 
14.0%

Reducing 
income 
inequalities

% low income households Cumbria/ 
district/ LSOA

CACI/CCC Annual

2018

11.9% 9.6%

A reduction in the claimant count rate 

(CPDP measure M3.2)

County/district ONS/CCC Monthly/Annual

September 2018

1.9% 2.2%

P
age 238



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

35

Key Stage 4 (GCSE) Attainment, Grades 4-9 - 
Disadvantaged 

County DfE/CCC Annual

2018 academic year

40.7%

(provisional)

44.4%

Key Stage 4 (GCSE) Attainment, Grades 4-9 – 
Disadvantage Gap (All pupils Cumbria/national non-
disadvantaged difference)

County DfE/CCC Annual

2018 academic year

-31.2%

(provisional)

Outcomes for SEND (school support pupils) at Key 
Stage 2 achieving the expected standard in Reading, 
Writing and Mathematics to improve from 17.9% to 
be in line with national level (CPDP M2.5)

County/district CCC Annual

2018 academic year

22.6%

(provisional)

23.8%

P
age 239



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

36

Appendix 1: The Five Capitals Model

This strategy is built around the “five capitals” model proposed by Forum for the Future as a framework for 
sustainable systems. Broadly speaking this starts from a recognition that society is a sub-system of the broader 
ecosystem, and that the economy is a sub-system of society. At each of these levels there are different assets, 
collectively referred to as “capital”, that can be exploited and/or developed.

Natural capital, sometimes also referred to as environmental or ecological capital, is made up of all those 
natural resources and processes that people depend on. This includes obvious natural resources such as land, 
water, air, timber, and animals, but also natural processes such as the water cycle and climate regulation, 
sometimes referred to as “ecosystem services”. Natural capital is the basis of all other capitals. It can be 
utilised to support the development of other capitals – for example building things essentially turns natural 
capital into manufactured capital and financial capital – but it has to be utilised sustainably in order to ensure 
that people can have a good quality of life today, and to avoid damaging the prospects of future generations.

Most obviously, human capital encompasses people’s skills, knowledge and experience, the things they draw 
on every day in living and contributing to society. Less obviously it also includes people’s motivations, their 
capacity for things like empathy, passion and joy, and also their intellectual output such as art and other 
cultural expressions.

Social capital refers to the connections between people, and to the various groups, institutions and social 
norms that help to create, foster and regulate these connections. This can include informal social networks 
involving family and friends, voluntary and community organisations, and more formal institutions such as 
workplaces, trade unions, faith groups and governmental organisations. It also includes cultural norms – 
shared expectations about how society works – that are often unspoken but are critical to whether people 
trust each other and work well together.

Page 240



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

37

The concept of manufactured capital is a broad one, encompassing for the purposes of this strategy any 
material goods or infrastructure that have an impact on people’s quality of life. Because of both its reliance 
and its impact on natural capital, it is critical that growing and improving manufactured capital is done in a way 
that is sustainable, minimising the use of natural resources and maximising the use of human skills and 
ingenuity.

Financial capital is essentially the amount of money available within the local economy, and is the form of 
capital most commonly considered and pursued as a goal of social and economic policy. At one level it is 
clearly critical for public health: within the normal range of experience, more affluent people are generally also 
more healthy, across almost all measures of health. However at a broader level financial capital has no intrinsic 
value: it plays an important role in enabling other forms of capital to be owned and traded, but it is only 
representative of these other forms of capital. Because of this, financial capital cannot grow sustainably 
without growth in the other forms of capital as well.

Interpreted for the purposes of a public health strategy, this model suggests that a community is healthy and 
sustainable when there is an appropriate stock of all five capitals. A key feature of this model is that it 
emphasises the importance of building all five capitals without degrading any of them. It sets a positive vision 
of building a better society in which everyone is able to maximise their potential for health and wellbeing. 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 030419

Government Resource and Waste Strategy for Consultation

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Holliday
Corporate Lead: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director
Lead Officer: Janice Carrol, Community Services Manager

Summary and Recommendation

The Government have put their Resource and Waste Strategy out for consultation, with a deadline 
of 12 May, 2019.

OSC are requested to consider the detail below and the attached summary of the key points in the 
strategy.  The two key areas highlighted for discussion are around points of interest and points to 
consider relating to the four key areas within the draft Government strategy.  Comments from OSC 
will be included within the draft response to the consultation.

Summary Points from the strategy are below and a more detailed summary is attached as 
an appendix.

 Extended Producer Responsibility 
Proposals to incentivise producers to use easy to recycle packaging through a system of 
modulated fees and shift the costs of collecting, transporting, sorting, treating and disposing 
of specified packaging materials from local authorities to packaging producers.

Key points of interest
 Packaging producers will cover the costs of managing waste packaging from 

households made up (as a minimum) of paper, card, metal (steel, aluminium, foil), 
plastic (PP, HDPE, PET), glass and cartons.

 The proposals include for the costs of clearing littered and fly-tipped packaging to 
also be borne by packaging producers, together with communications on recycling 
and litter prevention

 The proposals also suggest that the costs of dealing with on the go packaging in litter 
bins and on street recycling bins could be in scope – in terms of transfer to packaging 
producers

 The proposals further seek views on how producer fees could contribute towards 
better litter bin and ‘on the go’ recycling bin infrastructure

Points to consider
 We must ensure that the system is simple and transparent and that Local Authorities 

genuinely get 100% of their costs of dealing with waste packaging returned
 Should the system of numerous compliance schemes for issuing Packaging Recover 

Notes (PRNs) which provides limited transparency and funding to local authorities be 
replaced with one single ‘not for profit’ organisation in charge of running the whole 
scheme?

Page 243

Agenda Item 12

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fconsult.defra.gov.uk%2Fenvironmental-quality%2Fconsultation-on-reforming-the-uk-packaging-produce%2F&data=01%7C01%7Cleila.cox%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ccca4b3d5b6cc41276b5d08d6b10ea83f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=UmgsAvFjE%2Fixa2qGKxXBplU0AcXQXG2jxjRyq5%2BoF0M%3D&reserved=0


 Fees paid by producers must be modulated to ensure that harder to recycle or 
unrecyclable packaging put to market attract substantially higher fees and hence 
make it economically prohibitive

 There is scope in future to add in other items for EPR and have costs of collection, 
processing and disposal covered by producers – such as mattresses.

 Should biodegradable or compostable plastics be subject to higher fees (or banned) 
to prevent them contaminating the plastic recycling collected and the quality of 
secondary material produced?

 How can producer fees help to improve the management of packaging waste 
generated ‘on the go’?

Deposit Return Scheme
The proposals seek to introduce a nationwide system of deposits on drinks containers which 
can be redeemed by returning the packaging to designated points across the country

Key points of interest
 Containers in scope could include PET, HDPE, steel and aluminium and glass (but 

might also include cartons and coffee cups)
 The scheme would be funded by producers of drinks in containers
 The consultation offers options for an ‘all-in’ system (for containers or all sizes) and 

an ‘on the go’ system (for containers < 750ml)
 All retailers of drinks in containers will be required to offer a return point unless they 

fall below a potential de-minimis
 Take back of containers can be done using Reverse Vending Machines or manual 

take back

Points to consider
 While an ‘all-in’ system would probably result in valuable aluminium cans and PET 

bottles being placed into a DRS system rather than the current kerbside collection, 
the other consultation on EPR makes clear that the net costs of providing household 
recycling services for packaging waste will be 100% covered by producers. Hence any 
loss of income from sale of cans and bottles should be irrelevant.

 Space freed up by not having cans and bottles in kerbside may allow other valuable 
materials to be collected from kerbside.

 A good proportion of drinks containers littered are 750ml or bigger and hence 
introducing ‘on the go’ DRS would not encourage collection and recycling of these 
drinks used ‘on the go’, with these containers continuing to be littered or thrown 
into street litter bins.

Harmonised Recycling Infrastructure
The proposals would move households across the country towards greater standardisation 
of kerbside collections systems across the country.

Key points of interest
 Households across the country to be able to recycle a core set of dry materials – 

glass bottles and containers, paper and card, plastic bottles, 

Page 244

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fconsult.defra.gov.uk%2Fenvironment%2Fintroducing-a-deposit-return-scheme%2F&data=01%7C01%7Cleila.cox%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ccca4b3d5b6cc41276b5d08d6b10ea83f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=SC%2FIHSd95Zg7NSPlRGDB027iassveogmBfN8csuMZ6A%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fconsult.defra.gov.uk%2Fenvironmental-quality%2Fconsultation-on-consistency-in-household-and-busin%2Fsupporting_documents%2Frecycleconsistencyconsultdoc.pdf&data=01%7C01%7Cleila.cox%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ccca4b3d5b6cc41276b5d08d6b10ea83f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=BNHFNFR94NPnNed1FaWxThihdHeXNZzunJjS6%2B31BIc%3D&reserved=0


detergent/shampoo/cleaning products, plastic pots, tubs and trays, steel and 
aluminium tins and cans

 Households to have separate weekly food waste collections (costs covered by 
government)

 Potential for free garden waste collection for all households (costs covered by 
government)

 Potential for multi-stream (i.e. separate) collections at the kerbside (i.e. all wastes 
sorted by householders into individual containers) – with other options considered 
being twin-stream (e.g. paper/card collected separately from other material) or local 
authorities remain as they are  which would include keeping co-mingled collections 
where local authorities practise this (i.e. one container with all recycling placed 
within it)

 Potential to move (over time as contracts for new bins come up) to consistent 
colours for bins/boxes/bags  (i.e. plastic in a blue bin/bag/box no matter where you 
live in the country). With an option to use consistent colours of stickers on 
bins/boxes/bags for now. Costs to be covered by government.

Points to consider
 What other materials should be considered in the core set of dry materials?
 How do we encourage people to actually use their food waste caddies once there is 

universal coverage across the country?
 Is it better to have a simpler comingled collections but with higher contamination 

rates or a separate system with more boxes/bags/bins, potentially more complexity 
for the householder but cleaner less contaminated recycling? 

 Timescale in transitioning to new colour scheme
 Should garden waste be free for all households?

Plastic Tax
With proposals to tax plastic packaging that does not contain a minimum of 30% recycled 
plastic.

Key points of interest
Any plastic packaging with less than 30% recycled content will be subject to a new tax on 
the manufacturers of plastic packaging or importers of unfilled plastic packaging

Key points to consider
Should the tax expand to other packaging materials not just plastic to encourage a circular 
economy and better recycling?
Should the tax be modulated – with a tax that reduces (effectively to zero) as the recycled 
content in packaging increases?

Page 245

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fconsult.defra.gov.uk%2Fenvironmental-quality%2Fplastic-packaging-tax%2Fsupporting_documents%2F181213%2520Plastic%2520packaging%2520tax%2520condoc%2520template%2520final%25201.0.pdf&data=01%7C01%7Cleila.cox%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ccca4b3d5b6cc41276b5d08d6b10ea83f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=pJvWbMAT%2F3lIrW1gyhET8%2FXR44B7PXKltbxtVdz7lPs%3D&reserved=0


This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

 
 

 

SUMMARY OF THE GOVERNMENT’S RESOURCES & WASTE CONSULTATION 

PAPERS, ISSUED ON 18 FEBRUARY 2019 

 

The UK Government has published four consultation papers on the key policy proposals 

in the Resources & Waste Strategy. These are open for consultation for 12 weeks: 

• Consistency of collections – 65 page consultation paper covering England, and 

a 62 page Impact Assessment. Closes Monday 13 May. 

• Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for Packaging – 125 page 

consultation paper from all four UK Nation governments, and a 57 page Impact 

Assessment. Closes Monday 13 May. 

• Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for (some) drinks packaging – 69 page 

consultation paper covering England, Wales & NI (as the Scottish Government 

have already consulted), and a 60 page Impact Assessment. Closes Monday 13 

May. 

• Plastic Packaging Tax – 51 page consultation paper covering entire UK, written 

by HM Treasury. Closes Sunday 12 May. 

 

The package is summarised in the Defra press release here: 

www.gov.uk/government/news/government-sets-out-plans-to-overhaul-waste-system.  

 

A summary of the key proposals that WRAP considers will affect local authorities is 

provided below. Please note, the consultations should not be viewed in isolation from 

each other, as they are all inter-linked.  

 

N.B. If you have any questions at all, we will do our best to answer these; alternatively 

questions can be directed to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs at 

recycling@defra.gov.uk. 

 

 

  

Page 247

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
http://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-sets-out-plans-to-overhaul-waste-system
mailto:recycling@defra.gov.uk


   
 

 
 

Consistency of Collections (England only) 

 

• The consultation paper includes 66 questions which consultees are invited to 

provide their responses to and is divided into two parts, dealing with household 

and business waste respectively. 

• NB: There is an important statement on p.5 about local authority funding 

made in the strategy: ‘Government recognises the pressures on local 

authorities. They will therefore receive additional resource to meet any 

new net costs arising from the policies set out in this consultation when 

implemented. This includes both net up front transition costs and net 

ongoing operational costs.’ 

• The key conclusion (p.7) is that these proposals, if implemented in full, 

alongside EPR and DRS, will enable England to meet the 65% EU Circular 

Economy package recycling target by 2035: ‘We expect these proposals to 

contribute an additional 12% points to our current household recycling rate (by 

weight), taking it from c. 44% to 56% and as much as an additional 39% points to 

the recycling rate achieved by businesses (from best estimate of 35% to 74%). 

Overall, the municipal waste recycling rate would increase from 40% to 64% by 

2035. With the EPR packaging reform and DRS impacts included, we estimate a 

municipal recycling rate above 65% by 2035.’ 

• The document states (p.20) that ‘The WRAP collections framework forms the 

basis of the proposals in this document to improve recycling for households.’ 

• Part One (pp.18-50) deals with improving the quantity and quality of household 

recycling collected by local authorities and includes 16 proposals grouped into 

ten specific categories: 

o Category 1 (pp.20-26) – sets out Proposals for collecting a core set of 

dry materials for recycling from households (including flats). The core 

set is glass bottles & containers, paper & card, plastic bottles, plastic pots, 

tubs & trays, and steel & aluminium tins and cans. Compostable plastics 

are not included. The core set will be reviewed regularly. 

o Category 2 (pp.26-29) – sets out Proposals for separate weekly food 

waste collections from households (including flats) from 2023 – separate 

from garden waste collections unless this is not technically, 

environmentally, and economically practicable (TEEP). 

o Category 3 (pp.29-31) – sets out proposals for collecting garden waste and 

asks whether waste collection authorities should provide a free 

fortnightly garden waste collection service for households with 

gardens – this is estimated to increase recycling rates by 6% by 2035. 

o Category 4 (pp.32-36) – sets out Proposals on improving quality by 

source separating dry recycling materials in collections, especially 

paper and glass, to improve the quality of dry recyclables collected from 

households, through a general preference for multi-stream collections, 

and through statutory guidance. 

o Category 5 (pp.36 – 37) asks whether bin colours should be 

standardised. 

Page 248

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environmental-quality/consultation-on-consistency-in-household-and-busin/supporting_documents/recycleconsistencyconsultdoc.pdf
http://www.wrap.org.uk/collections-and-reprocessing/consistency


   
 

 
 

o Category 6 (pp.37-39) – asks whether statutory guidance on minimum 

service standards for waste and recycling services, aligned to WRAP’s 

consistency framework, should be introduced. The guidance would cover 

houses, HWRCs and, if practical, flats. It could be amended in future as 

best practice changes.  

o Category 7 (pp.39 - 42) – invites comments on how householders can be 

helped to recycle through effective communications. 

o Category 8 (pp.42 – 43) invites comments on issues relating to end 

markets for recyclable materials. 

o Category 9 (pp.44 – 48) sets out proposals to develop non-binding 

performance indicators to support local authorities in delivering high 

quality and quantity in recycling and waste management. Such indicators 

would need to take account of area-specific constraints and other 

contextual factors, and would use existing data sources wherever 

possible. Proposed indicators include the yield (kg/hh/wk) of dry 

recyclables, food waste, garden waste, and residual waste. 

▪ This category also includes a sub-section (pp.46-48) on developing 

alternatives to weight-based metrics in the longer term. 

o Category 10 (pp.48-50;) – invites comments on how to support joint 

working between local authorities on waste. 

• Part Two (pp.51-62) - improving recycling by the two million businesses (and 

other organisations), to increase the sector’s recycling rate from around 35% 

towards 74% by 2035. This would be achieved by changing the waste services 

offered to businesses and improving their consistency and affordability. It 

includes a further four proposals, which might be introduced through legislation 

on a phased basis between 2023 and 2035, with those (larger) businesses, who 

can change most cost-effectively, going first: 

o all affected businesses and organisations to segregate dry recyclable 

materials from residual waste (optionally with glass separate from the 

rest), to be collected for recycling; 

o all affected businesses and organisations to separate their food waste 

(if they produce enough to be worthwhile) to be collected and recycled or 

composted; 

o measures to reduce costs of waste collection for businesses and 

organisations, particularly small ones; and 

o measures to improve the availability of data and information on 

business waste and recycling. 

 

  

Page 249



   
 

 
 

Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging 
 

The consultation paper sets out far reaching proposals to overhaul the current 

‘producer responsibility’ arrangements. It proposes that funding to meet the costs of 

managing packaging wastes are transferred from central government and local 

taxpayers to businesses. Local authorities will be paid by producers for collecting and 

managing packaging that arises in household waste. Local authorities will have to collect 

all recyclable packaging that is identified for collection through household collection 

services. Collection services will have to meet with any minimum collection standards 

required in each nation. This will lead to more consistent service provision across the 

country. 

• Pages 20-22 – Outline the five overarching principles, four governance principles, 

and eight expected outcomes underlying the Packaging EPR proposals. 

• Page 25 – Sets out Defra’s estimates for packaging waste arisings in 2023, split by 

material and type. 

• The consultation paper includes 95 questions, and covers eight areas: 

o Full net cost recovery (pp.27-32) – definition (p.28) and implementation. 

o Incentivising producers to design and use packaging that can be recycled 

(pp.33-36) – through an ‘approved’ list of recyclable packaging 

materials/formats (p.34) and applying either modulated fees or a deposit 

fee approach (this latter approach being directly linked to governance 

model 4 – see below). 

o Who would be obligated (pp.37-43) – two options for change: moving to 

a single point of compliance (the preferred option, the single point is 

either the brand owner or the seller); or retain the current ‘shared 

responsibility’ approach. Also considers whether to retain the minimum 

threshold, and how to deal with online distance-selling. 

o What the income is spent on (pp.44-53) – funding council collections of 

household packaging waste and supporting the collection for recycling of 

non-domestic municipal waste [NB: This links directly to the consultations 

on DRS and consistency of collections.] How the money is calculated (by 

formula) and distributed, taking account of who owns the material at each 

stage. Treatment of ‘on-the-go’ packaging, including disposable [coffee] 

cups. 

o Mandatory labelling of all packaging to indicate recyclability, plus 

communications (pp.54-59) – asks for views on whether a proportion of 

the income should be used to fund local and/or national communications. 

On labelling, they propose a mandatory, UK-wide labelling scheme. If a 

DRS is introduced, the label will also need to cover this. Labels should 

identify compostable plastic, and perhaps the level of recycled content. 

o Packaging waste recycling targets (pp.60-70) – starting from a 

commitment to meet or exceed the targets in the EU Circular Economy 

Package, they propose to review their methodology for establishing how 

much packaging is put on the market and model what EPR, DRS and 

consistency could achieve, setting interim targets for 2021 & 2022 

Page 250

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environmental-quality/consultation-on-reforming-the-uk-packaging-produce/supporting_documents/packagingeprconsultdoc.pdf


   
 

 
 

[between the end of the current targets in 2020, and the new system 

starting in 2023 – for the numbers, see Table 6 (p.70)], plus longer-term 

targets for 2025 & 2030. The devolved administrations would like the 

targets to be disaggregated to national level. They ask if there ought to be 

sub-targets for closed-loop recycling of packaging (e.g. the current remelt 

target for glass), and for composite packaging formats. 

o Four alternate governance models for the packaging EPR system (p.71-

85). These are: 

▪ Model 1: Enhanced near-to-business as usual compliance schemes  

▪ Model 2: Single not-for-profit producer scheme  

▪ Model 3: Separate scheme for household/household-like 

packaging and commercial and industrial (C&I) [transit] packaging 

(‘compliance scheme’ approach).  

▪ Model 4: Deposit-based government-managed scheme 

(‘Government deposit fee’ approach) 

Models 1, 2 and 3 are underpinned by a modulated fee as the 

mechanism for raising full net costs and incentivising behaviour. In 

Model 4, the mechanism is a deposit fee for all packaging, plus a cost 

recovery fee for household packaging. 

o Strengthening compliance monitoring & enforcement, including for 

packaging waste exported for recycling (pp.86-114)  

• Section 9 includes proposals to improve transparency - through mandatory 

annual audited accounts for reprocessors & exporters, mandatory reporting of 

prices paid, and tighter regulation of compliance schemes. 

• Section 10 sets out how compliance with all these new regulatory requirements 

will be achieved in practice. 

• Section 11 (pp.115-118) summarises the costs and benefits of the proposals, 

based on the accompanying 57 page Impact Assessment. Three scenarios are 

modelled here. Broadly, they are: 

o Scenario 1 – implementation of EPR; 

o Scenario 2 – EPR plus ‘all-in’ DRS; and 

o Scenario 3 – EPR plus ‘on-the-go’ DRS. 

The figures are shown in detail on pp.117—118. 

 

  

Page 251



   
 

 
 

Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for Packaging 

 

This consultation seeks views on proposals to introduce a DRS for drinks containers in 

England, Wales and Northern Ireland, whilst recognising that any DRS should form part 

of a coherent system across the UK. A DRS would see a deposit added to the price of 

drinks in in-scope drinks containers at the point of purchase, which would be redeemed 

when consumers return their empty drinks containers to designated return points. 

 

• The consultation paper includes 89 questions and is divided into four areas: 

Background, Proposed approach, Summary of impact assessment, and Other 

issues. 

• Background (pp.11-16) - summarises the design of a typical DRS, and reviews 

the case for action, including available statistics on litter, and work done by 

official groups in England, Wales & NI.  

• Proposed Approach (pp.17-51) - covers the eight basic principles underpinning a 

DRS (listed on p.17), and discusses the key variables: 

o which materials are covered (they propose PET & HDPE bottles, steel & 

aluminium cans, and glass bottles); 

o the types of drinks included (they propose including most drinks, 

including alcohol, water, juices, soft drinks and milk-containing drinks, but 

excluding milk on its own or milk substitutes); 

o whether disposable coffee cups should be in scope; 

o the material and financial flows through the system (see diagram on 

p.25); 

o the overlap with a packaging EPR scheme; 

o the role of a Deposit Management Organisation (DMO), the proposed 

central body that manages the operation of the DRS; 

o the role of producers and retailers; 

o how the material and financial flows would work in practice, including 

who has to host a DRS return point (see overview diagram on p.25); 

o the appropriate level of the deposit, and whether it should be flat or 

variable; 

o recycling and data recording; 

o monitoring and enforcement; and 

o two alternative scheme designs: ‘all-in’ or ‘on-the-go’ – definitions of each. 

• Summary of Impact Assessment (IA) (pp.52-59) - summarises the separate IA, 

which models the costs and benefits of the two alternative scheme designs. 

• Other Issues (pp.60-69) – discusses alternative approaches to achieving the aims 

of a DRS; the potential impacts of a DRS on local authorities; the extent to which 

a DRS might drive greater eco-design of drinks containers; and the interaction of 

a DRS with other waste legislation. 

 

  

Page 252

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme/supporting_documents/depositreturnconsultdoc.pdf


   
 

 
 

Plastic Packaging Tax (HM Treasury consultation) 

 

• The consultation paper summarises the proposals in paragraphs 1.8 to 1.16. It 

includes 56 questions (listed in one place in Ch.14, pp.42-46 as paginated, 46-50 

of the pdf file) and covers nine main areas (see Chs.3-11): 

o Scope (Ch.3, p.13 as paginated, p.17 of the pdf) - The aim is to align with 

the new EPR regime.  

o Driving recycled content (Ch.4, p.17) - The aim is to treat all forms of 

recycling, including chemical recycling, equally. ‘Recycled content’ is 

defined in ISO standard 14021:2016 (see para 4.5).  

o Setting the tax rate (Ch.5, p.22) - Preference is to charge a flat rate per 

tonne, with the quantum to be defined in due course. 

o Liability for the tax (Ch.6, p.23) - The tax will apply to UK manufacturers 

and imports, but it will not apply to exports.  

o Treatment of exports (Ch.7, p.27) - Where unfilled exported plastic 

packaging has already had the tax applied, a tax credit will be allowed, 

subject to robust evidence being supplied. 

o Excluding small operators (Ch.8, p.29)  

o Registration & reporting (Ch.9, p.32) - Liable companies will have to 

register with HMRC by April 2022, then submit quarterly self-declared tax 

returns online. 

o Ensuring compliance (Ch.10, p.34) - Relevant companies will need to 

keep accurate records to demonstrate levels of recycled content. 

o Understanding commercial practices (Ch.11, p.38) - A series of 13 

questions aimed at those likely to be affected by the tax, to help the 

Government understand the sector better, so that they can make sure the 

tax works properly and does not have unintended consequences. 

• The Government will set out its response to the consultation in 2019 Budget this 

autumn. 

 

Page 253

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779345/181213_Plastic_packaging_tax_condoc_template_final_1.0.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 3

Task and Finish Group Monitoring
Task and Finish Group Chair of Task 

and Finish 
Group

Progress Next Step Estimated Completion 
Date

Voluntary Living Wage Cllr Sam 
Pollen

 The group discussed how the Council can 
become an accredited Living Wage 
Employer.

 The Head of Corporate Resource advised 
the group of the possible avenues to 
accreditation.

 The group shall scope the project at their 
next meeting.

 Corporate Leadership Team accepted the 
recommendation that the Voluntary Living 
Wage be a requirement in the CBC 
procurement process.

 The Scrutiny Officer spoke with the 
Voluntary Living Wage Foundation and 
completed the accreditation paperwork 
with the Head of Corporate Services.

 Receive confirmation of 
the accreditation for 
Copeland Borough Council 
from the Voluntary Living 
Wage Foundation.

 Q4 of 2018/19

Child Poverty Cllr Ian Hill  The group met with Suzanne Wilson 
(University of Central Lancashire) to 
attempt to scope the project. The scoping 
was delayed to the next meeting when a 

 Children’s Charter to be 
approved by the task and 
finish group.

 Q1 of 2019/20

P
age 255

A
genda Item

 15



 

Page 2 of 3

Task and Finish Group Chair of Task 
and Finish 
Group

Progress Next Step Estimated Completion 
Date

number of outside bodies shall be present 
to better guide the scoping. 

 The group also attended a presentation by 
a group of girls that Suzanne Wilson has 
created to showcase different techniques 
of helping to lift children out of poverty.

 Meeting held with representative from 
Howgill.

 Meeting at St Begh’s School and St Peter’s 
Community Hall for further information.

 Meeting held between Scrutiny Officer, 
Suzanne Wilson and Executive Director to 
discuss the scope of project.

 Scoping completed by the group. Decision 
made to create a Children’s Charter and a 
communication plan.

 Second report received from Suzanne 
Wilson after feedback received by schools.

 First draft of Children’s Charter created. To 
be sent to schools that provided feedback 
for input.

 The Draft Children’s Charter was presented 
to the You Said, We Did conference. 
Feedback was overwhelmingly positive.

P
age 256



 

Page 3 of 3

Task and Finish Group Chair of Task 
and Finish 
Group

Progress Next Step Estimated Completion 
Date

Accessible Information Policy Cllr Andy 
Pratt

 The group scoped the project with the 
Communication Team.

 The Scrutiny Officer researched several 
policies from other authorities and 
circulated them to the group.

 A draft policy has been drafted by the 
Scrutiny Officer with input from the 
Communications Team and Policy Officer.

 Final draft was approved by OSC and 
adopted at Full Council on 19th February 
2019.

 Task and Finish Group 
completed.

 N/A

Public Space Protection Orders Cllr Graham 
Sunderland

 The group completed the scoping of the 
project. The group has opted to create a 
borough wide PSPO with smaller PSPOs 
relating to individual areas.

 Meeting held with key stakeholders.
 Draft PSPOs have been created for Dog 

Control, Alcohol Control and Intoxicating 
Substances.

 Draft PSPOs to be agreed 
by OSC and forwarded to 
the Executive.

 Further meeting of group 
to create new PSPOs.

 Q4 of 2018/19

P
age 257



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 3

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2018-19
Meeting Date Agenda Items Overview/Scrutiny Corporate 

Ambition
Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Officer Lead Chairman of 
Task & Finish 
Group

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Member

21 March 
2019

(Full OSC)

Executive Forward Plan 

Report of the Representative to 
the Cumbria Health and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Report from Overview and 
Scrutiny Performance Sub 
Committee

Update from Task & Finish 
Group (where applicable)

Update from Single Table Trade 
Union Group (STTUG)

Overview

Scrutiny

Scrutiny

Scrutiny

Overview

Strengthening the 
Way We Operate

Strengthening the 
Way We Operate

Strengthening the 
Way We Operate

Strengthening the 
Way We Operate

Employment, 
Skills and Social 
Wellbeing

Julie Betteridge

Julie Betteridge

Julie Betteridge

Julie Betteridge

Jo McLeod

Julie 
Betteridge

N/A

N/A

James Young

Jo McLeod

N/A

N/A

N/A

Various

N/A

Mike Starkie

N/A

Mike Starkie

Various

David 
Moore

Mike Starkie

Anne 
Bradshaw

Ray Gill

Various

Sam Pollen

P
age 259

A
genda Item

 16



 

Page 2 of 3

Meeting Date Agenda Items Overview/Scrutiny Corporate 
Ambition

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Officer Lead Chairman of 
Task & Finish 
Group

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Member

Housing

Work Programme Update

Overview

Overview

Employment, 
Skills and Social 
Wellbeing

Strengthening the 
Way We Operate

Julie Betteridge

Julie Betteridge

Amanda 
Starr

James Young

N/A

N/A

Allan 
Holliday

N/A

N/A

N/A

P
age 260



 

Page 3 of 3

The following subjects are for inclusion in the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme. These subjects shall be 
undertaken by Task and Finish Groups and have either begun or are scheduled to begin their work:

 Voluntary Living Wage
 Public Space Protection Orders
 Child Poverty
 GMB Domestic Violence Charter
 Proposals for Council Tax Discount and Premium Scheme (Council, 19th February 2019)
 Paperless (Council, 4th December 2018)
 Stronger Towns Fund

The following subjects are to be brought to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration:

 Accommodation Strategy Report
 Copeland Community Fund
 Social Isolation – Age UK Invitation
 Security at Sellafield
 Peer Review of Scrutiny
 Post-16 Education in Copeland in relation to Employment Prospects
 Shared Community Safety
 Health and the Hospital
 Sports and Leisure

P
age 261



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 February 2019
	4 Executive Forward Plan
	6 Update from the Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG) representative
	7 Public Space Protection Orders
	Scan of Final Draft Alcohol Order
	Dog Control Order

	9 Rural Strategy
	Time for a Rural Strategy - Key Messages (002)

	10 Outside Bodies Annual Report
	Mike Starkie
	Cllr David Moore
	Cllr Jackie Bowman
	Cllr Ian Hill
	Cllr David Riley
	Cllr Graham Sunderland
	Cllrs Kelly and Burness
	Cllr John Kane
	Cllr Jean Lewthwaite
	Cllr Michael McVeigh
	Cllr Alistair Norwood
	Cllr Sam Pollen
	Cllr Gillian Troughton
	Outside Bodies Council May as Amended Dec 2018

	11 Cumbria Public Health Strategy
	Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 2019

	12 Response to Waste Consultation - Government Waste and Resources Strategy
	RWS-WRAP summary of consultation papers

	15 Task and Finish Group Updates
	16 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

